THESUPPORTING HEALTHY MARRIAGE EVALUATION

EARLY IMPACTS ON LOW-INCOME FAMILIES

OPRE Report 2012-11 February 2012

Supporting Healthy Marriage

The Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation: Early Impacts on Low-Income Families

OPRE Report 2012-11

February 2012

Authors: JoAnn Hsueh, Desiree Principe Alderson, Erika Lundquist, Charles Michalopoulos, Daniel Gubits, David Fein, and Virginia Knox

Submitted to: Nancye Campbell, Project Officer

Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation Administration for Children and Families U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Project Directors: JoAnn Hsueh and Virginia Knox MDRC 16 East 34th Street New York, NY 10016

Contract Number: HHS-233-03-0034

This report is in the public domain. Permission to reproduce is not necessary.

Suggested citation: Hsueh, JoAnn, Desiree Principe Alderson, Erika Lundquist, Charles Michalopoulos, Daniel Gubits, David Fein, and Virginia Knox (2012). *The Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation: Early Impacts on Low-Income Families*. OPRE Report 2012-11. Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Disclaimer: The views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, the Administration for Children and Families, or the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

This report and other reports sponsored by the Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation are available at http://acf.gov.programs/opre/index.html.





MDRC and its subcontractors — Abt Associates, Child Trends, Optimal Solutions Group, and Public Strategies, Inc. — are conducting the Supporting Healthy Marriage evaluation under a contract with the Administration for Children and Families (ACF) in the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), funded by HHS under a competitive award, Contract No. HHS-223-03-0034. The ACF project officer is Nancye Campbell.

The findings and conclusions in this report do not necessarily represent the official positions or policies of HHS.

Dissemination of MDRC publications is supported by the following funders that help finance MDRC's public policy outreach and expanding efforts to communicate the results and implications of our work to policymakers, practitioners, and others: The Ambrose Monell Foundation, The Annie E. Casey Foundation, Carnegie Corporation of New York, The Kresge Foundation, Sandler Foundation, and The Starr Foundation.

In addition, earnings from the MDRC Endowment help sustain our dissemination efforts. Contributors to the MDRC Endowment include Alcoa Foundation, The Ambrose Monell Foundation, Anheuser-Busch Foundation, Bristol-Myers Squibb Foundation, Charles Stewart Mott Foundation, Ford Foundation, The George Gund Foundation, The Grable Foundation, The Lizabeth and Frank Newman Charitable Foundation, The New York Times Company Foundation, Jan Nicholson, Paul H. O'Neill Charitable Foundation, John S. Reed, Sandler Foundation, and The Stupski Family Fund, as well as other individual contributors.

For information about MDRC and copies of our publications, see our Web site: www.mdrc.org.

Overview

The Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) evaluation was launched in 2003 to test the effectiveness of a skills-based relationship education program designed to help low-income married couples strengthen their relationships and, in turn, to support more stable and more nurturing home environments and more positive outcomes for parents and their children. The evaluation is led by MDRC, in collaboration with Abt Associates and other partners, and is sponsored by the Department of Health and Human Services.

The SHM program is a voluntary, yearlong, relationship and marriage education program for lowincome, married couples who have children or are expecting a child. The program provides group workshops based on structured curricula; supplemental activities to build on workshop themes; and family support services to address participation barriers, connect families with other services, and reinforce curricular themes. The study's rigorous random assignment design compares outcomes for families who are offered SHM's services with outcomes for a similar group of families who are not offered SHM's services but can access other services. This report presents estimated impacts on the program's targeted outcomes about one year after couples entered the study.

Key Findings

- The SHM program produced a consistent pattern of small positive effects on multiple aspects of couples' relationships. Relative to the control group, the program group showed higher levels of marital happiness, lower levels of marital distress, greater warmth and support, more positive communication, and fewer negative behaviors and emotions in their interactions with their spouses. The consistency of results across outcomes and data sources (surveys and independent observations of couple interactions) is noteworthy.
- Compared with individuals in the control group, program group members reported experiencing slightly less psychological and physical abuse from their spouses. Men and women in the program group reported less psychological abuse in their relationships, and men in the program group reported that their spouses physically assaulted them less often, compared with their control group counterparts.
- Men and women in the program group reported slightly lower levels of adult psychological distress (such as feelings of sadness or anxiety) than their control group counterparts.
- The program did not significantly affect whether couples stayed married at the 12-month follow-up point.

This study provides some encouraging evidence that a couples-based, family-strengthening intervention can yield positive effects when delivered on a large scale to low- to modest-income couples with diverse backgrounds. The importance of the short-term impacts, however, will ultimately depend on whether the program yields positive impacts on marital stability and parents' and children's well-being over time. The effects of SHM on longer-term outcomes — including effects on divorce and separation, parenting, father engagement, and child well-being two and a half years after couples enrolled in the study — will be explored in subsequent reports.

Contents

Overview	v
List of Exhibits	ix
Acknowledgments	xiii
Executive Summary	ES-1
Introduction to the Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation	1
The SHM Program Model	3
Three Components of the Program Model	3
Overview of Costs and Program Participation	7
The SHM Evaluation Design	9
Conceptual Framework of the SHM Project	10
Data Sources Used in This Report	12
Characteristics of Couples in the SHM Evaluation	13
Impacts on Services Received by Couples in the SHM Program Group and	
Those in the Control Group	19
Short-Term Impacts on Marital and Coparenting Relationships and on	
Adult Psychological Distress	23
Impacts on Marital Status and Appraisals of Overall Marital Quality	23
Impacts on Self-Reported Positive and Negative Marital Interactions	28
Impacts on Observed Positive and Negative Couple Interactions	30
Impacts on Psychological and Physical Abuse and on Infidelity	30
Impacts on Spouses' Mental Health	33
Impacts on the Coparenting Relationship	34
Impacts Analyzed by Local SHM Program	35
Do SHM Program Impacts Vary for Subgroups of Couples?	39
Discussion	43

Appendix

A	More Information on the Baseline Characteristics of Couples in the SHM Evaluation	49
B	Descriptions of the Codes Used to Construct the Primary Outcomes Based on Observed Marital Interactions	55

Appendix

Ea	rlier MDRC Publications on the Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation	99
Re	ferences	93
E	Estimated Impacts Analyzed by Subgroup, Using Full Interaction Models	81
D	Estimated Impacts Analyzed by Subgroup, Using the Split-Sample Approach	69
С	Estimated Impacts Analyzed by Local SHM Program	61

List of Exhibits

Table

ES.1	Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey and Observed Couple Interactions	ES-5
1	Selected Characteristics of Local SHM Programs	4
2	Demographic and Socioeconomic Characteristics of Couples in the Full SHM Sample at Study Entry	14
3	Estimated Impacts on Couples' Participation in Relationship Services and Referrals Since Random Assignment	20
4	Estimated Impacts on Relationship Status and Marital Appraisals Based on the 12-Month Survey	27
5	Estimated Impacts on Reported Quality of Marital Interactions Based on the 12-Month Survey	29
6	Estimated Impacts on Marital Quality Based on Observed Couple Interactions at 12 Months	33
7	Estimated Impacts on Psychological Abuse, Physical Assault, and Infidelity Based on the 12-Month Survey	34
8	Estimated Impacts on Individual Psychological Distress and the Coparenting Relationship Based on the 12-Month Survey	35
A.1	Definitions of the Demographic and Socioeconomic Characteristics of Couples in the SHM Evaluation Sample at Study Entry	51
A.2	Characteristics of SHM Couples Compared with Low-Income Married Couples from National Surveys	53
C.1	Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey, by Local SHM Program	63
D.1	Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey, by Level of Marital Distress at Random Assignment: Subgroup Analysis Using Split Samples	71
D.2	Estimated Impacts on Marital Quality Based on Observed Couple Interactions at 12 Months, by Level of Marital Distress at Random Assignment: Subgroup Analysis Using Split Samples	73

Table

D.3	Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey, by Income Relative to Poverty Level at Random Assignment: Subgroup Analysis	
	Using Split Samples	74
D.4	Estimated Impacts on Marital Quality Based on Observed Couple Interactions at 12 Months, by Income Relative to Poverty Level at Random Assignment: Subgroup Analysis Using Split Samples	76
D.5	Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey, by Race/Ethnicity: Subgroup Analysis Using Split Samples	77
D.6	Estimated Impacts on Marital Quality Based on Observed Couple Interactions at 12 Months, by Race/Ethnicity: Subgroup Analysis Using Split Samples	79
E.1	Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey, by Level of Marital Distress at Random Assignment: Subgroup Analysis with Full Interactions	83
E.2	Estimated Impacts on Marital Quality Based on Observed Couple Interactions at 12 Months, by Level of Marital Distress at Random Assignment: Subgroup Analysis with Full Interactions	85
E.3	Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey, by Income Relative to Poverty Level at Random Assignment: Subgroup Analysis with Full Interactions	86
E.4	Estimated Impacts on Marital Quality Based on Observed Couple Interactions at 12 Months, by Income Relative to Poverty Level at Random Assignment: Subgroup Analysis with Full Interactions	88
E.5	Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey, by Race/Ethnicity: Subgroup Analysis with Full Interactions	89
E.6	Estimated Impacts on Marital Quality Based on Observed Couple Interactions at 12 Months, by Race/Ethnicity: Subgroup Analysis with Full Interactions	91
Figure		
1	The SHM Program Model and Theory of Change	6
Box		
ES.1	The SHM Program Model: Three Complementary Components	ES-2

Вох

ES.2	How to Read Table ES.1	ES-7
1	Marriage Education Curricula Used in Local SHM Programs	5
2	How to Read the Estimated Impact Tables in This Report	21
3	The Multiple Comparisons Problem	24
4	Descriptions of the Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey	25
5	Descriptions of the Primary Outcomes Based on Observed Marital Interactions	31
6	How a Typical Couple's Observed Interactions Might Look in the	
	SHM Evaluation	32

Acknowledgments

The Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) evaluation is made possible by the Administration for Children and Families (ACF) in the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. As the SHM program officer at ACF, Nancye Campbell provided wise guidance at every step of the report and to the project as a whole. Mark Fucello and Brendan Kelly, who served as program officers in the early years of the evaluation, continue to provide helpful insights. The report also benefited from ongoing input from Naomi Goldstein, Susan Jekielek, Seth Chamberlain, and Lauren Supplee. We also thank Mark Greenberg and Earl Johnson for their thoughtful review.

We are grateful to the program directors and staff at the eight local SHM programs that participated in this evaluation. They are working tirelessly to deliver high-quality services that meet the needs of their communities and to recruit and retain couples in program services, and they generously gave their time to help MDRC and our research partners collect the data needed for the evaluation.

Many thanks go to our team of dedicated research partners, including Larry Orr of Abt Associates as co-principal investigator in the early stages of the project; Kris Moore, Marty Zaslow, and colleagues at ChildTrends for their roles in designing the baseline and follow-up data collection instruments; Jan Melby from the Institute for Social and Behavioral Research at Iowa State University for training, and Hannah Williamson and Kimberley Hickman for overseeing, the coders of the videotaped observations of couple interactions at the University of California-Los Angeles (UCLA); and, lastly, Donna DeMarco, Brenda Rodriguez, Davyd Roskilly, Ricki Jarmon, and Brianna Roche from Abt SRBI, a subsidiary of Abt Associates, for their tireless efforts collecting the data used in this report.

We have also benefited from the involvement of many noted experts in the field of marital and family process research, program evaluation, and social policy. First, and foremost, it is with much gratitude that we thank Philip Cowan, Carolyn Pape Cowan, and Thomas Bradbury for being sage advisers who lent us their expertise, support, encouragement, guidance, and insights throughout the many phases of this project. Our work has been enriched in innumerable ways as a result of their involvement. We also express great thanks to Thomas Bradbury for leading the coding lab of the videotaped observational data at UCLA. We are grateful to Paul Amato and Benjamin Karney for their helpful insights throughout the project, including during the development of the program model, and for their consultation and review of survey instruments, the analysis plan, and the report. We also are indebted to Paul Amato for his reanalysis of the data from the Survey of Marriage and Family Life, which is discussed in the body of the report. We thank Chalandra Bryant, Rolando Diaz-Loving, Frank Furstenburg, and Charles Negy for providing significant guidance and feedback on the design of the survey instruments. Our appreciation goes to Andrew Cherlin, Kathy Edin, Richard Heyman, Ronald Mincy, and Robert Wood for their thoughtful review of the report. Lastly, we thank Mary Jo Bane, Ron Haskins, Lawrence Katz, and Isabel Sawhill, as members of MDRC's Board of Directors, for their insightful review of the report.

At MDRC, our thanks go to Gordon Berlin, Barbara Goldman, Richard Hendra, John Hutchins, Jennifer Miller Gaubert, and Sharon Rowser, who provided helpful input and review of the report; Jo Anna Hunter for acting as our liaison with Abt SRBI's survey team; Electra Small for playing a key role in overseeing the SHM data collection, storage, and processing; Lisa Gennetian, a former colleague at MDRC, for leading the design of the baseline instruments; Alla Chaplygina, Galina Farberova, Joel Gordon, Shirley James, and Ushapriya Narasimhan for developing systems to conduct random assignment and to store the data used in this report; Noemi Altman, Isabelle Bollendorf, Kristen Faucetta, Jorgen Harris, Meghan McCormick, Lyndsay McDonough, Emilio Rodriguez, and Amy Taub for their work processing data and conducting the analysis for the report; Jennifer Garcia for coordinating the production of the report; Casey Stein, Alexander Vazquez, and Ashley Weech for pitching in on countless occasions to help with production tasks; Margaret Bald for acting as our publications liaison; Robert Weber for editing the report; and David Sobel for preparing it for publication.

Finally, we are deeply grateful to the couples and families in the study sample. Whether participating in the SHM program or as members of the control group, these families went through random assignment, participated in multiple waves of data collection, and granted us access to confidential information about themselves as part of the research effort. Without these families, this research would not have been possible.

The Authors

Executive Summary

The Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) evaluation was launched in 2003 using a rigorous research design to test the effectiveness of one possible approach to improving outcomes for lower-income parents and children: strengthening marriages as a foundation for supporting stable, nurturing family environments and the well-being of parents and children.¹ The Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families (ACF), sponsored the evaluation as part of its family-strengthening research agenda. The evaluation is led by MDRC in collaboration with Abt Associates, Child Trends, Optimal Solutions Group, and Public Strategies as well as academic experts Thomas Bradbury, Philip Cowan, and Carolyn Pape Cowan.

SHM is motivated by two strands of research. One growing body of research shows that parents and children tend to fare better on a range of outcomes when they live in low-conflict, two-parent families; parent-child relationships are more supportive and nurturing when parents experience less distress in their marriages; and children are less likely to live in poverty when they grow up in two-parent families. A different strand of research points to the potential effectiveness of preventive, skills-based relationship education curricula for improving the quality of marriages. To date, this research has focused primarily on middle-income couples. Collectively, these findings have motivated policymakers to test strategies that could improve relationship stability and quality for low-income parents and, thereby, improve the outcomes for parents and their children.

This report presents the estimated 12-month effects of SHM on outcomes that were short-term targets of the intervention. These outcomes include marital stability, the quality of couple relationships, the quality of coparenting relationships, and men's and women's psychological distress. The effects of SHM on indirect or longer-term outcomes — including effects on divorce and separation, parenting, father engagement, and child well-being — will be explored in subsequent reports. A companion report to this one provides more detail on the SHM research sample and documents the implementation of the SHM program across eight local programs that are participating in this evaluation.²

¹Throughout this report, the terms "low-income," "low-to-modest income," and "lower-income" are used to refer to couples with family incomes that are below 200 percent of the federal poverty level.

²Jennifer Miller Gaubert, Daniel Gubits, Desiree Principe Alderson, and Virginia Knox, *The Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation: Final Implementation Findings* (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Forthcoming, 2012).

Box ES.1

The SHM Program Model: Three Complementary Components

Relationship and marriage education workshops. The core SHM service, workshops were typically conducted with a range of 3 to 20 couples in a group setting in weekly sessions lasting 2 to 5 hours each. Longer than many marriage education services, SHM workshops typically lasted 6 to 15 weeks, for a total of 24 to 30 hours of curriculum.

Supplemental activities. These events built on and complemented the workshops, providing couples additional opportunities to learn and practice relationship skills and to build support networks with other married couples.

Family support services. Family support workers were the main link between couples and the program. They maintained contact over time, facilitated participation in the program by linking couples to needed community services, and worked in one-on-one settings to reinforce themes presented in the workshops.

The SHM Program Model

In eight locations across the United States, the SHM evaluation is testing a voluntary, yearlong program for low-income, married couples who, at study entry, had children or were expecting a child. The program included the three complementary components described in Box ES.1. The program's central and most intensive component was a series of relationship and marriage education workshops offered in the first four to five months of enrollment in the program. Longer than most marriage education services and based on structured curricula shown to be effective with middle-income couples, the workshops were designed to help couples enhance the quality of their relationships by teaching strategies for managing conflict, communicating effectively, increasing supportive behaviors, and building closeness and friendship. Workshops also wove in strategies for managing stressful circumstances commonly faced by lower-income families (such as job loss, financial stress, or housing instability), and they encouraged couples to build positive support networks in their communities. The eight local programs selected one of four curricula for their workshops. Complementing the workshops was a second component, which consisted of supplemental activities - educational and social events that were intended to build on and reinforce lessons from the curricula. The third component, family support services, paired couples with a specialized staff member who maintained contact with them and facilitated their participation in the other two program components. Because programs sought to keep couples engaged in services for one year, family support staff helped to meet family resource needs by connecting participants with other needed services, which also helped address participation barriers. Staff also reinforced the workshop themes and skills in their one-on-one meetings with couples.

An implementation analysis found that the full SHM program model was operated by the eight local programs participating in the study.³ The average SHM operating cost per couple was \$9,100, ranging from \$7,400 to \$11,500 per couple across the local programs. This cost reflects the intensity of a yearlong, multicomponent program model whereby substantial staff efforts focused on maintaining couples' engagement in the program. According to program information data, on average, 83 percent of couples attended at least one workshop; 66 percent attended at least one supplemental activity; and 88 percent attended at least one meeting with their family support workers. Once enrolled, couples participated in an average of 27 hours of services across the three components, including an average of 17 hours of curricula, nearly 6 hours of supplemental activities, and 4 hours of in-person family support meetings.

Intake and Characteristics of Couples in the Research Sample

To be eligible for the study, couples had to be low-income, report being married, be over age 18, and be either expectant parents or parents of a child under age 18 who lived in their home. They also had to understand one of the languages in which SHM services were offered (English or, in some locations, Spanish) and have no indication of domestic violence in the relationship.

From February 2007 to December 2009, a total of 6,298 couples meeting these eligibility criteria were recruited into the study and were randomly assigned into one of two research groups: (1) a program group, which was offered the package of SHM services, or (2) a control group, which was not provided SHM services but could receive other services available in the community.

At random assignment, the vast majority of couples (81 percent) were married.⁴ This varied somewhat by location — in part, because some programs asked couples whether they considered themselves to be married rather than whether they were legally married, while other programs placed more emphasis on legal marriage as an eligibility criterion.

In terms of other characteristics, the couples in the SHM evaluation are quite diverse. At study entry, they had been married for about six years, on average. Most couples had low to modest incomes: 43 percent had incomes below the federal poverty level, and 39 percent had incomes between 100 percent and 200 percent of the threshold. About 43 percent of couples are Hispanic; 21 percent are white; 11 percent are black; and 25 percent are of another race or the spouses differ in racial or ethnic backgrounds. Couples had an average of two children. More

³Miller Gaubert, Gubits, Alderson, and Knox (Forthcoming, 2012).

⁴The 12-month impact analysis includes couples who enrolled in the study, regardless of their marital status at study entry. As a sensitivity check, the impact estimates were also conducted excluding couples who were not married when they entered the study; those results (not shown) mirror the impact estimates presented in this report.

than a quarter were stepfamilies. Close to 80 percent of husbands and wives reported that they were happy with their marriages at the time they entered the study, but a little more than half reported thinking in the past year that their marriage was in trouble. About one-fourth of couples had at least one spouse who was experiencing psychological distress. Similarly, about one-fifth of couples had at least one spouse who reported a substance abuse problem.

Compared with nationally representative samples of low-income married couples with children, SHM couples were more likely to live in or near poverty and were substantially less likely to be happy with their marriages and more likely to think in the past year that their marriages were in trouble. In line with previous findings that couples who are unhappier in their relationships are at greater risk of marital disruption,⁵ these comparisons suggest that the typical SHM couple was more vulnerable to relationship instability than an average low-income married couple with children in the United States.

The 12-Month Impacts of SHM

The first step in understanding the short-term effects of the SHM program is to examine its estimated impacts on service receipt.

• As expected, program group couples received substantially more group relationship and marriage education services than control group couples (not shown). As reported by study participants, about 89 percent of program group couples, compared with 24 percent of control group couples, reported receiving any relationship and marriage education services in a group setting since random assignment. About 42 percent of program group couples reported attending more than 10 group sessions, compared with less than 3 percent of control group couples.

Table ES.1 presents the estimated effects of SHM on core measures of the quality and stability of marital relationships, individual psychological distress, and coparenting outcomes, approximately 12 months after couples enrolled in the study. (Box ES.2 provides additional details about the table's impact estimates.) The results are summarized below.

• The SHM program produced a consistent pattern of small but statistically significant positive effects on the quality of couples' marital relationships. Approximately 12 months after study entry, program group members reported higher levels of marital happiness, lower levels of marital distress, greater warmth and support, more positive communication skills,

⁵Benjamin R. Karney and Thomas N. Bradbury, "The Longitudinal Course of Marital Quality and Stability: A Review of Theory, Method, and Research," *Psychological Bulletin* 118, 1: 3-34 (1995).

The Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation

Table ES.1

Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey and Observed Couple Interactions

	Program	Control	Difference	Effect
Outcome ^a	Group	Group	(Impact)	Size ^b
Relationship status and marital appraisals				
Married ^c (%)	90.0	89.3	0.8	_
Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^d	5.93	5.77	0.15	0.13 ***
Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	47.7	52.9	-5.2	***
Reports of marital-quality interactions ^e				
Men's report of warmth and support	3.46	3.42	0.04	0.09 ***
Women's report of warmth and support	3.37	3.32	0.05	0.09 ***
Men's report of positive communication skills	3 24	3 19	0.05	0.08 ***
Women's report of positive communication skills	3.22	3.15	0.07	0.11 ***
	2.16	2.22	0.07	0 00 ***
Wen's report of negative behavior and emotions	2.16	2.23	-0.07	-0.08 ***
women's report of negative behavior and emotions	2.10	2.19	-0.09	-0.12
Observed marital-quality interactions ^f				
Men's warmth and support	1.98	1.95	0.03	0.05
Women's warmth and support	1.98	1.98	0.00	0.00
Men's positive communication skills	5.57	5.49	0.08	0.10 *
Women's positive communication skills	5.76	5.68	0.08	0.09 *
Men's anger and hostility	1.25	1.28	-0.03	-0.05
Women's anger and hostility	1.37	1.42	-0.06	-0.10 *
Psychological abuse, physical assault, and infidelity				
Men's report of psychological abuse ^e	1.30	1.34	-0.04	-0.09 ***
Women's report of psychological abuse ^e	1.25	1.28	-0.04	-0.08 ***
Men's report of any physical assault (%)	113	13 /	_2 2	**
Women's report of any physical assault (%)	8.6	9.2	-0.5	_
	1.5	1.0	0.2	
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%)	1.5	1.9	-0.3	_
women's report of any severe physical assault (70)	1.0	1.0	0.0	
Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	92.4	91.3	1.1	_
Individual psychological distress and coparenting relationship ^e				
Men's psychological distress	1.85	1.90	-0.05	-0.06 **
Women's psychological distress	1.95	2.02	-0.07	-0.09 ***
Men's report of cooperative coparenting	3.45	3.43	0.02	0.03
Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3.33	3.30	0.02	0.04
Sample size				
Survey-reported outcomes				
Couples	2,650	2,745		
Men	2,415	2,504		
Women O_{1}^{1} women $(a_{1},a_{2})^{g}$	2,575	2,668		
Observed outcomes (couples)	695	702		

(continued)

Table ES.1 (continued)

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-Month Follow-Up Survey and Observational Study.

NOTES: Estimates were regression-adjusted using ordinary least squares, controlling for pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: *** = 1 percent; ** = 5 percent; * = 10 percent. Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

^aRelationship status, marital appraisals, and infidelity are defined at the couple level; therefore, impact estimates for men and women are not applicable. Boxes 4 and 5 near the end of the report describe how these outcomes are defined.

^bA dash indicates that a value is not shown for dichotomous outcomes because percentage point differences are readily interpretable. Effect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group.

^cThis includes couples who, at follow-up, were still married or still in a committed relationship with the same partner they had when they entered the study.

^dThe scale ranges from 1 to 7, where 1 = "completely unhappy" and 7 = "completely happy."

^eThe scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher scores indicate higher levels of the respective survey-reported outcomes: warmth and support, positive communication skills, negative behavior and emotions, psychological abuse, individual psychological distress, and cooperative coparenting.

^fThe scale ranges from 1 to 9, where higher scores indicate higher levels of the respective observed outcomes: warmth and support, positive communication skills, and anger and hostility.

^gObserved outcomes were collected for equal numbers of men and women.

and fewer negative behaviors and emotions in their interactions with their spouses, relative to control group members. Independent observations of couples interacting with each other also indicated that the program group, on average, showed more positive communication skills and less anger and hostility than the control group. Although the estimated effects are small, there is noteworthy consistency of results across several outcomes and the two data sources used at the 12-month follow-up point.

- Compared with spouses in the control group, spouses in the program group reported experiencing slightly less psychological and physical abuse. Men and women in the program group reported less psychological abuse in their relationships than their control group counterparts. In addition, fewer men in the program group reported that their spouses had physically assaulted them during the past three months, relative to men in the control group; the estimated effect for women is not statistically significant.
- Men and women in the program group reported slightly lower levels of individual psychological distress than their counterparts in the control group. Again, the estimated impacts on individual psychological distress (such as feelings of sadness or anxiety that interfered with daily activities) are

Box ES.2

How to Read Table ES.1

The "Difference (Impact)" and "Effect Size" columns of Table ES.1 show the estimated impacts — or the differences in mean values or percentages on outcomes between the program and control groups. For most of the outcomes in this table, impact estimates are shown in standardized effect sizes, which is the impact estimate divided by the standard deviation of the outcome of interest for the control group. For binary outcomes in this table, impact estimates are presented as percentage point differences between the program and control groups.

Effect sizes are one way to interpret the substantive significance of the impact estimates. The magnitude of effect sizes can be interpreted with respect to empirical benchmarks that are relevant to the intervention, target population, and outcome measures being considered,* but, in the absence of such information, one can broadly characterize the potential substantive significance of the impacts by using general rules of thumb suggested by Cohen, whereby effect sizes of 0.2 or less are considered "small"; an effect size of 0.5 is considered "moderate"; and effect sizes of 0.8 or above are considered "large."[†]

The number of asterisks shown in the table indicates whether a given estimated impact is statistically significant (or that the estimated impact is large enough that it is unlikely to be due to a program with no true effect). One asterisk corresponds with whether the estimated impact is statistically significant at the 10 percent level; two asterisks indicate statistical significance at the 5 percent level; and three asterisks indicate statistical significance at the 1 percent level.

NOTES: *Carolyn J. Hill, Howard S. Bloom, Alison Rebeck Black, and Mark W. Lipsey, "Empirical Benchmarks for Interpreting Effect Sizes in Research" (New York: MDRC, 2007).

[†]Jacob Cohen, *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*, 2nd ed. (Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum, 1988).

small in magnitude but reflect a pattern of positive effects from the SHM program.

- SHM's estimated impacts are generally consistent across the eight local programs in the evaluation. Although the estimated effects are larger in some programs than in others, the differences across programs are too small to conclude that they result from true differences in the programs' effective-ness rather than from chance variation.
- Some evidence suggests that the positive estimated impacts of SHM are somewhat larger and more consistent for Hispanic couples and for couples with high marital distress at study entry. There is some uncertainty, however, about whether the differences can be attributed to these specific

characteristics or to other differences across the groups. For example, Hispanic couples also reported higher levels of distress at study entry, and they were clustered in particular local programs, making it difficult to disentangle the factors that underlie estimated subgroup differences in program impacts.

Discussion

The SHM evaluation set out to develop, implement, and test a voluntary, yearlong, relationship and marriage education program designed for low-income married couples with children. The program aimed to strengthen the quality and stability of low-income parents' marriages and, in turn, to support stable and nurturing family environments, thereby improving outcomes for lowincome parents and their children. The short-term results of the SHM evaluation provide some of the first evidence demonstrating positive effects from a couples-based, family-strengthening intervention that was delivered on a large scale to low-to-modest income couples with diverse backgrounds.

The impacts of the SHM program add new evidence to a mixed set of findings about family-strengthening interventions for lower-income families to date: the Building Strong Families evaluation suggests that it is challenging to affect the relationship outcomes of low-income unmarried parents of newborns,⁶ but the Supporting Father Involvement (SFI) and Strong Bonds studies,⁷ and now SHM, indicate that it is possible to strengthen marital relationships in racially and ethnically diverse families with low or modest incomes, at least in the short run.

Although consistent positive effects in the SHM results to date are encouraging, the estimated impacts are smaller than effects identified by prior studies in this area.⁸ SHM's shortterm estimated impacts might be small for a variety of reasons. It is possible that lower-income couples who face challenging life circumstances find it more difficult to implement the skills

⁶Robert G. Wood, Sheena McConnell, Quinn Moore, Andrew Clarkwest, and JoAnn Hsueh, *Strengthening Unmarried Parents' Relationships: The Early Impacts of Building Strong Families* (Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, 2010).

⁷Philip A. Cowan, Carolyn Pape Cowan, Marsha Kline Pruett, Kyle Pruett, and Jessie J. Wong, "Promoting Fathers' Engagement with Children: Preventive Interventions for Low-Income Families," *Journal of Marriage and Family* 71: 663-679 (2009); and Scott M. Stanley, Elizabeth S. Allen, Howard J. Markman, Galenda K. Rhoades, and Donnella L. Prentice, "Decreasing Divorce in Army Couples: Results from a Randomized Controlled Trial Using PREP for Strong Bonds," *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy* 9, 2: 149-160 (2010).

⁸Victoria L. Blanchard, Alan J. Hawkins, Scott A. Baldwin, and Elizabeth B. Fawcett, "Investigating the Effects of Marriage and Relationship Education on Couples' Communication Skills: A Meta-Analytic Study," *Journal of Family Psychology* 23, 2: 203-214 (2009); and Alan J. Hawkins, Victoria L. Blanchard, Scott A. Baldwin, and Elizabeth B. Fawcett, "Does Marriage and Relationship Education Work? A Meta-Analytic Study," *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 76, 5: 723-734 (2008).

from the SHM curricula in their everyday lives and interactions, thereby diminishing the program's impacts. At the same time, the vast majority of studies (other than the Building Strong Families evaluation) were conducted with relatively small research samples, using a single curriculum, and under relatively controlled circumstances. Meta-analyses in other fields have found that these conditions tend to produce larger impacts, on average, than circumstances like the SHM evaluation, in which programs were delivered and tested on a large scale.⁹ Indeed, it is not uncommon in large-scale program evaluation research to find statistically significant impacts that are only modest in size.

SHM's impacts are consistent across the local programs in the evaluation. This finding likely reflects that there were large differentials in the services received by program and control group members in all locations and that all the programs were able to implement the full SHM program model in adherence with program guidelines. Thus, even though there was some variation in implementation features, hours of couples' participation, characteristics of the host agencies, and average program costs per couple, this finding suggests that these differences were not large enough to generate significant differences in impacts across local programs.

As noted above, the average cost of delivering SHM services ranged from \$7,400 to \$11,500 per couple across the local programs. Future research could focus on testing lower-cost strategies of delivering marriage and relationship education services on a similar scale and identifying areas for cost reduction. The challenge, however, is to determine which elements of the program (such as staff-to-client ratios, duration of engagement, supports provided, and so on) could be trimmed without compromising the program's capacity to produce positive impacts.

In sum, SHM's short-term effects are small, but they are consistent across a range of outcomes and data sources. The short-term impacts occurred for multiple dimensions of marital functioning and adult psychological well-being — outcomes that have been associated with social and emotional outcomes for children. This points to the possibility of longer-term positive effects of the program on children's well-being. At the 12-month follow-up, however, the program did not significantly affect the likelihood that parents were still together or spouses' reports of infidelity or the quality of their coparenting relationships.

In line with some prior research, the short-term effects found here could either fade or grow over time. Indeed, some studies have reported short-term effects initially that seemed to fade soon after.¹⁰ Other studies suggest that the effects of such programs may grow over time as

⁹Mark W. Lipsey and David B. Wilson, "The Way in Which Intervention Studies Have 'Personality' and Why It is Important to Meta-Analysis," *Evaluation of the Health Professions* 24, 3: 236-254 (2001).

¹⁰Hawkins, Blanchard, Baldwin, and Fawcett (2008).

couples have more opportunity to assimilate and integrate the lessons learned from the curricula into their everyday lives and interactions with each other.¹¹ Thus, a key question for this evaluation looking forward is whether the accumulation of SHM's positive effects so far — even if small in magnitude, across multiple domains of marital functioning and adult psycholog-ical well-being — will be sufficient to yield positive impacts on marital stability and on parents' and children's adjustment and well-being over time.

The data in the SHM evaluation provide an unprecedented opportunity to investigate a range of questions related to marital and family processes among low-income, racially and ethnically diverse families. Subsequent reports using longer-term follow-up data collected approximately 30 months after couples entered the study will examine the effects of SHM on marital stability, parenting, father engagement, and parents' and children's adjustment and well-being, and other outcomes over a longer period.

¹¹Marc S. Schulz, Philip A. Cowan, and Carolyn Pape Cowan, "Promoting Healthy Beginnings: A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Preventive Intervention to Preserve Marital Quality During the Transition to Parenthood," *Journal of Clinical and Consulting Psychology* 74: 20-31 (2006).

Introduction to the Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation

This report presents the 12-month impact findings from the Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) evaluation, begun in 2003 as part of the Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families (ACF), family-strengthening research agenda. SHM is a rigorous evaluation of a couples-based intervention designed for lower-income married couples with children.¹ The evaluation is motivated by two distinct but related strands of research showing that:

- Parents and children tend to fare better on a range of outcomes when they live in low-conflict, two-parent families;² children are less likely to live in poverty when they grow up in two-parent families;³ and parent-child relationships are generally more supportive and nurturing when parents experience less distress in their marriages.⁴
- Preventive, skills-based relationship education curricula have been shown to be effective for strengthening the quality of marriages.⁵

Collectively, these findings have motivated policymakers to test strategies that could improve relationship stability and quality for low-income parents and, thereby, improve the outcomes for parents and their children. Yet, as of 2003, virtually all prior evaluations were conducted with middle-class and predominantly white research samples and resulted in sparse information about how low-income parents — and, more importantly, their children — were ultimately affected by these interventions. This left open questions about whether such services could also be effective for low-income families with diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds.

To address these questions, ACF contracted with MDRC and its research partners — Abt Associates, Child Trends, Optimal Solutions Group, and Public Strategies as well as academic experts Thomas Bradbury, Philip Cowan, and Carolyn Pape Cowan — to conduct the SHM evaluation as one part of its family-strengthening research agenda. The project developed,

¹Throughout this report, the terms "low-income," "low-to-modest income," and "lower-income" are used to refer to couples with family incomes that are below 200 percent of the federal poverty level.

²Beach (2001); Schultz, Cowan, and Cowan (2006); Neff and Karney (2004); Whisman (2001); Grych (2002); Cummings and Davies (2002).

³McLanahan and Booth (1989).

⁴Lindahl, Clements, and Markman (1997); Erel and Burman (1995).

⁵Blanchard, Hawkins, Baldwin, and Fawcett (2009); Hawkins, Blanchard, Baldwin, and Fawcett (2008); Reardon-Anderson, Stagner, Macomber, and Murray (2005).

implemented, and tested a voluntary yearlong relationship skills program that was designed to help low-income married couples with children strengthen their couple relationships and, in turn, support more positive outcomes for parents, more stable and nurturing home environments, and more positive outcomes for their children. Using a random assignment research design, half of the couples in the study sample were assigned to the program group, which could access SHM services, and the other half of the sample were assigned to the control group, which could not access SHM services but could receive other services available in the community. This design ensures that any differences between the research groups when couples first entered the study are due to chance and that any systematic differences that later emerged are most likely due to the program being studied.

The primary objectives of the SHM evaluation are (1) to determine the extent to which program services improve the stability and quality of marriages, other aspects of family functioning, and adult and child well-being; (2) to understand who is more likely or less likely to benefit from the program; and (3) to document how the eight local programs implemented the SHM model, the services that couples received, and how couples viewed the program. This report informs the first two objectives. A companion report documents the implementation experiences of the local SHM programs, informing the last objective.⁶

In this report, the estimated 12-month impacts of SHM are presented on a set of primary outcomes, which were chosen in a design phase prior to any analysis. The outcomes examined include the quality of couple relationships, marital stability, men's and women's psychological distress, and the quality of coparenting relationships. Most of these outcomes were expected to be directly affected by the program within 12 months. Results show that shortly after the SHM services ended, program participants reported, on average, higher levels of marital happiness and lower levels of marital distress and displayed, on average, more positive communication skills and fewer negative emotions and behaviors in their interactions with each other than control group members reported. Additional questions moving forward for this evaluation are whether these short-term impacts will translate into longer-term benefits for families and whether SHM program services will ultimately benefit children. The effects of SHM on longer-term outcomes — including effects on divorce and separation, parenting, father engagement, and child well-being — will be examined in subsequent reports.

⁶Miller Gaubert, Gubits, Alderson, and Knox (Forthcoming, 2012).

The SHM Program Model

The Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) program offered a voluntary package of services designed to serve low-income married couples with children.⁷ Eight local programs in seven states participated in the evaluation. (See Table 1.) The programs were hosted by agencies diverse in their settings (including community-based multiservice organizations, large local institutions, and stand-alone for-profit organizations), diverse in their prior experience delivering marriage education services, and diverse in the populations that they served.

To be eligible for the study, couples had to be low-income,⁸ married, over age 18, and expecting a child or parents of a child under age 18 living in their home.⁹ Couples had to understand one of the languages in which services were offered (English or, in some locations, Spanish) and have no indication of domestic violence in the relationship. Programs were required to work with local domestic violence service agencies to develop enrollment screening tools and response protocols.

Three Components of the Program Model

In designing the program model, input was sought from academic scholars and experts from the field of relationship and marriage education. This input was used to develop relationship skills education services that (1) focused on topics of importance for the quality and stability of marital relationships, based on prior research, and (2) had been tested with middleincome couples but were adapted for a low-income audience. The result was a program model that consisted of three main components delivered over a 12-month period, with the most intensive services occurring in the first four to five months of the program, as shown in Figure 1. The three main components of the program model are curriculum-based relationship and marriage education skills workshops in small groups, supplemental activities, and family support services.

Curriculum-based relationship and marriage education skills workshops in small groups. Workshops constitute the central service component of the program. Local programs

⁷This section draws on Knox and Fein (2009) and Miller Gaubert et al. (2010). For details about the SHM program model and implementation, see Miller Gaubert, Gubits, Alderson, and Knox (Forthcoming, 2012).

⁸For the purposes of local programs' recruitment efforts, "low-income" was defined as having annual family income of less than \$50,000 — slightly more than 200 percent of the federal poverty level for a family of four. Three programs located in urban areas — the Bronx and two programs in the Seattle area (referred to as Seattle and Shoreline throughout this report) — were allowed to recruit families with up to \$60,000 in income. This change took place early in the evaluation.

⁹Couples were not required to provide proof of income or proof of marriage at random assignment.

	2		2	Program	Location			
Program Characteristic	Bronx	Oklahoma City	Orlando	Pennsylvania ^a	Seattle	Shoreline ^b	Texas ^a	Wichita
Host agency	University Behavioral Associates (UBA)	Public Strategies, Inc.	University of Central Florida (UCF)	Community Prevention Partnership of Berks County	Becoming Parents Program, Inc.	Center for Human Services (CHS)	Texas Department of Health and Human Services	Catholic Charities
Organizational setting	Hospital	For profit	University	Community- based nonprofit	For profit (Community- based nonprofit	Community- C based nonprofit	community- based nonprofit
Languages used in program	English	English, Spanish	English	English, Spanish ^c	English	English, Spanish	English, Spanish	English
Target group within SHM population	None	Expectant and new parents ^d	None	None	Expectant and new parents ^d	None	None	None
Relationship and marriage education curriculum ^e	LCLC	BPP	FOF	WOR	BPP	LCLC	WOR	WOR
Length ^f (hours)	24	30	30	28	30	24	28	28
Length of Saturday workshops (weeks) Length of Saturday workshops (weeks)	10 1 ^g	10	12	c1 7 or 15	69	12	cı Not offered	11 1 ^g
NOTES: ^a The Pennsylvania program o ^b The Shoreline program was located	ffered services i l in a suburb of	in Bethlehem and Seattle.	d Reading; th	he Texas program	n offered service	es in El Paso	and San Antonio,	ΓX.

The Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation Table 1 Selected Characteristics of Local SHM Programs

^cReading offered its program exclusively in Spanish, and Bethlehem offered its program in English and Spanish. ^dCouples were eligible for the program if they were expecting a baby or had an infant younger than 3 months old. ^eThe relationship and marriage education curricula are as follows: LCLC = Loving Couples, Loving Children; BPP = Becoming Parents Program; FOF = For Our Future, For Our Family, WOR = Within Our Reach.

^fCurriculum length is as stated by curriculum developers. ^gAll relationship and marriage education workshops in these sites began with a six-hour session held on a Saturday; the remaining sessions were held on weeknights for two hours.

Box 1 Marriage Education Curricula Used in Local SHM Programs

Four curricula were used by local SHM programs:*

Within Our Reach (adapted from the Prevention and Relationship Enhancement Program, or PREP) is the curriculum used by the SHM programs in Pennsylvania, Texas, and Wichita. See Stanley and Markman (2008).

For Our Future, For Our Family (adapted from Practical Application of Intimate Relationship Skills, or PAIRS) is the curriculum used by the SHM program in Orlando. See Gordon, DeMaria, Haggerty, and Hayes (2007).

Loving Couples, Loving Children (adapted from Bringing Baby Home) is the curriculum used in the Bronx and Shoreline SHM programs. See Loving Couples Loving Children, Inc. (2009).

Becoming Parents Program (based on PREP and adapted from an earlier version of Becoming Parents) is the curriculum used by SHM providers in Oklahoma City and Seattle. See Jordan and Frei (2007).

NOTE: *For information on how curricula were selected and adapted, see Knox and Fein (2009).

selected one of four curricula that were adapted specifically for this study. (See Box 1.) Each curriculum incorporated multiple themes and activities designed to help couples decrease negative interactions (by emphasizing communication skills and conflict management) and increase supportive interactions (by encouraging supportive behaviors, shared goal setting, working as a team, and spending time together as a couple and a family in order to build closeness and positive connections), as well as to build a greater understanding of marriage. The curricula vary, however, in the emphasis placed on each of these skills. Workshops also wove in information on managing stressful circumstances commonly faced by lower-income families (such as job loss, financial stress, or housing instability), and they encouraged couples to build positive support networks in their communities. The curricula used a mix of teaching styles, combining presentations and lecturing styles with discussions, group and couple activities, time for individual reflection, and videos or other ways to demonstrate skills. Longer than many relationship education workshops, SHM offered between 24 and 30 hours of curriculum (as stated by the curriculum developers) in small-group settings over a period of 6 to 15 weeks.

Supplemental activities. Under the SHM program model (Figure 1), supplemental activities offered couples additional opportunities to attend educational and social events, to practice skills from the workshops, and to build supportive networks with other married couples in the program. Activities reinforced curriculum themes while offering a range of events from seminars on financial management and parenting issues to date nights and family outings. After The Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation

Figure 1

The SHM Program Model and Theory of Change



the workshops ended, supplemental activities were the primary SHM service component and were offered until a couple's one-year anniversary of enrollment in the program.

Family support services. Pairing couples with specialized staff members, family support services were included in the program model (Figure 1) and had three goals: to maintain contact with couples, in order to facilitate their participation in the other two program components; to help couples reduce family stressors and address family needs by linking them to community resources; and to reinforce key workshop themes in one-on-one meetings with couples. Each couple was paired with a staff person who was responsible for maintaining contact between the couple and the program. Staff also arranged child care and transportation assistance when the couple was attending SHM services, and they provided emergency assistance, which also helped to address participation barriers.

Overview of Costs and Program Participation

The average cost of operating local SHM programs was \$9,100 per couple. This ranged from \$7,400 per couple in Wichita to \$11,500 per couple in Oklahoma City. The calculations are based on costs that the programs incurred while providing SHM services to couples served during a steady state of implementation.¹⁰ The costs reflect the intensity of a yearlong, multi-component program model and a substantial emphasis on staff efforts to engage couples in services once they were enrolled.

At the outset of the SHM evaluation, the primary questions were whether low-income couples would be interested enough in this type of program to enroll and whether services would be attractive enough to keep them coming over time. The programs succeeded in enrolling over 6,000 couples into the study and in engaging both men and women in program services, in compliance with the SHM model's guidelines to serve couples rather than individuals. According to the program management information system, on average, 83 percent of program group couples attended at least one workshop; 66 percent attended at least one supplemental activity; and 88 percent attended at least one meeting with their family support worker. Once enrolled, couples participated in an average of 27 hours of services across the three components, including an average of 17 hours of curricula, nearly 6 hours of supplemental activities, and 4 hours of in-person family support meetings. This provides evidence that the programs were able to operate the full SHM program model in a variety of contexts with

¹⁰For more information on how the estimates of program operating costs per couple were calculated, see Miller Gaubert, Gubits, Alderson, and Knox (Forthcoming, 2012).

diverse populations. A more detailed analysis of the implementation of the SHM program is presented in the companion report.¹¹

¹¹Miller Gaubert, Gubits, Alderson, and Knox (Forthcoming, 2012).

The SHM Evaluation Design

To estimate the effect, or impact, of the Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) program, a random assignment research design was used. Couples meeting the program's eligibility criteria were randomly assigned to either:

- The program group. These couples were offered the package of SHM program services and were able to receive curriculum-based relationship and marriage education workshops, family support services, and supplemental activities.
- The control group. These couples were not provided SHM services, but they could receive other services available in the community.

The use of a random assignment research design means that the SHM program and control groups are expected to be similar when they first entered the study.¹² Hence, any subsequent differences in outcomes between the two groups after random assignment can reliably be attributed to the SHM program. Because control group members could receive any other relationship education services that were available in the community, this study's impact estimates represent the added value of offering couples the package of SHM program services, above and beyond the services that couples and families might normally receive.

As noted above, random assignment occurred after couples were recruited, after eligibility for the program was determined, and after both members of the couple consented to undergo random assignment and to participate in the evaluation.¹³ Couples were excluded from the SHM program and the evaluation and were referred to other services if, at the time of enrollment, there was an indication of domestic violence in the relationship.¹⁴

Random assignment began in February 2007 in the local SHM program run in Oklahoma City, and it ended in the last programs in December 2009. The initial goal of the local programs was to enroll 800 couples in the study; Oklahoma used supplemental state funds to enroll 1,000 couples by the end of the recruitment period. As is reported in the study's first implementation report, the local programs used several methods to recruit sample members into

¹²For comparisons of the baseline characteristics of program group and control group couples among the full SHM sample, see Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix C.

¹³For details about the intake and baseline data collection procedures for enrolling in the SHM study, see Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix A.

¹⁴Programs were required to work with local domestic violence service agencies to develop enrollment screening tools and response protocols.

the study.¹⁵ Local programs established networks of referral partners and sent staff into the community to do face-to-face outreach, in addition to using more traditional outreach methods like flyers, brochures, and mass media advertisements. Despite the wide variety of recruitment strategies used, the research sample — as in other studies of voluntary programs — includes couples who were motivated to volunteer for program services and who, therefore, may be a select group among low-income married couples.

Conceptual Framework of the SHM Project

In designing the evaluation, the research team considered the basic conceptual model illustrated in Figure 1 for how the SHM program could affect couples, families, and, ultimately, children. (Boldface labels in the figure denote the primary outcomes that are examined in this report.) The model draws on a wealth of prior marital and family process research and developmental theory, and it provides a framework for linking the SHM program to various outcomes that are important for adult well-being and for child development and well-being.

As the figure illustrates, the core SHM services were designed to help married lowincome couples learn relationship skills to directly improve the quality of their marital relationships. Couples' relationships could also be affected by referrals to outside services aimed at reducing individual or family challenges that could place stress on families. Overall quality of marital relationships is conceptualized as consisting of two key dimensions, which prior marital and family process research has linked with marital stability: the emotional and behavioral aspects of marital interactions (quality of marital interactions) as well as spouses' appraisals of their marital relationships and functioning (that is, couples' satisfaction and marital happiness and distress).¹⁶ As such, improvements in marital relationships theoretically would be evidenced by the following:

- More positive emotions and behaviors in interactions, such as clearer and more empathetic communication, more effective conflict resolution skills, and higher levels of warmth, support, and emotional and physical intimacy
- Fewer negative emotions and behaviors in interactions, such as fewer antagonistic, hostile, or abusive behaviors during disagreements and lower levels of sexual and emotional infidelity

¹⁵For more information on the recruitment of sample members, see Miller Gaubert et al. (2010).

¹⁶Bradbury, Fincham, and Beach (2000); Fincham, Stanley, and Beach (2007); Karney and Bradbury (1995).

• More positive appraisals of marital quality, such as higher levels of marital satisfaction and lower levels of marital distress by program group couples relative to their counterparts in the control group

Marital appraisals might be affected directly by the SHM program, but they could also be indirectly affected through changes in spouses' marital expectations. For example, all the curricula taught couples that relationships can be improved through each spouse's own efforts, that marital disagreements are normal, and that many couples face challenges at different times in their relationships. In addition, the discovery that one's spouse is committed enough to the relationship to attend this type of program might also affect a participant's appraisals of the relationship. Even though the program's impacts on marital appraisals are generally expected to be positive, the program could also have countervailing effects on marital appraisals, if changes in spouses' marital expectations are not accompanied by concomitant changes in the way that spouses actually interact with each other.

In turn, the effects on the quality of the marital relationship could lead, over time, to increased marital stability or lower rates of separation and divorce among program participants. Some aspects of family functioning — such as the quality of the coparenting relationship (or how parents work together in their shared parenting roles) and spouses' mental health and wellbeing — may also be directly affected in the short term. Accordingly, such outcomes are examined as part of this analysis of the effectiveness of the SHM program at the 12-month follow-up point.

Other aspects of family functioning, — such as parenting behaviors, levels of fathers' engagement and involvement, and families' economic security (primarily due to reduced rates of family disruption), as well as child well-being — would more likely unfold over a longer period of time. Accordingly, those aspects will be examined in subsequent reports using data from a longer-term follow-up collected about 30 months after couples entered the study. It is expected that the effects of the SHM program on these outcomes are indirect and would be evident only if the program first leads to improvements in the marital relationship outcomes examined in this report.

Lastly, Figure 1 highlights that a combination of strengths and constraints within individuals, families, and contexts is capable of shaping marital and family relationships and adult and child well-being.¹⁷ Among these factors are sociodemographic characteristics, couples' initial relationship quality, strengths and vulnerabilities of each spouse, stressors and supports

¹⁷Bradbury and Karney (2004); Cowan and Cowan (2000).

available in the community, and child characteristics — all of which could moderate the effects of the SHM program.

Data Sources Used in This Report

This report is based on data collected from three key sources.¹⁸

- **Baseline instruments, including a self-administered questionnaire and baseline and child information forms,** were completed by all husbands and wives prior to random assignment, when couples applied for the SHM program. The self-administered questionnaire was completed separately by each spouse at baseline, and both spouses generally completed the remaining forms together. The baseline information is used to describe the research sample, to improve the precision of the estimated program impacts, and to form subgroups.
- A follow-up survey interview was conducted separately with husbands and wives about 12 months after couples first applied for the program, regardless of whether or not their marriages were intact. The 12-month follow-up interviews aimed to capture study participants' reports on the main outcomes of interest. This information is critical for gauging the effects of the SHM program in that it allows an understanding of how husbands and wives in both the program group and the control group view the quality of their marital interactions and relationships. The response rates for the follow-up interview are 80 percent for husbands and 85 percent for wives.
- Videotaped observations of couple interactions were collected for a subset of couples across both research groups. Complementing information collected by the 12-month survey interviews, the videotapes provide an independent assessment of how couples interact with each other. They are coded using the Iowa Family Interaction Ratings Scale (IFIRS).¹⁹ The videotapes are intended to capture whether and how program participants are able to integrate the relationship and communication skills that are primary foci of the SHM curricula into their interactions. In order to select this sample, an equal number of couples in each of the local SHM programs were flagged to participate in the videotaped observations; couples with infants and with preadolescent and

¹⁸Detailed descriptions of these data collection components, samples, response rates, and available measures are presented in Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix B.

¹⁹Melby et al. (1998).
adolescent focal children were oversampled.²⁰ In each of the local SHM programs, about 100 program group and 100 control group couples were videotaped. The response rate for the videotaped observations is 62 percent.

Thus, the observational and self-reported data provide different lenses into the lives of couples and families participating in this study and how the SHM program might influence the quality of their relationships across a variety of contexts and over time.

Characteristics of Couples in the SHM Evaluation

• Couples in the SHM evaluation are a diverse group: most are lowincome, and many are Hispanic and have immigrant backgrounds.²¹

As shown in Table 2, about 43 percent of couples are Hispanic (of which at least 40 percent of couples had one spouse who is an immigrant to the United States); 21 percent are white; 11 percent are black; and 25 percent are couples of another race/ethnicity or couples who differ in racial/ethnic background.²² At study entry, most of the couples had low to modest incomes, but there was some diversity in their socioeconomic status: about 43 percent had incomes below the federal poverty level, and 39 percent had incomes between 100 percent and 200 percent of the poverty level. The spouses in about half the couples both had at least a high school diploma. The average age of individuals across programs was 31 at study entry.

²⁰For each couple, a child under age 14 living at home (including a yet-unborn child) when couples first entered the study was selected to be the "focal child." This child is the focus of survey questions related to parenting practices, father engagement, and child development and well-being as well as of videotaped observations of coparenting and parent-child interactions collected at the 12-month follow-up point. Because couples in the Oklahoma City and Seattle programs were eligible only if they were expecting a baby or had an infant younger than 3 months at study entry, this child was selected as the focal child. In the other local SHM programs, the focal child was selected at random.

²¹For definitions of the background characteristics used to describe the SHM sample, see Appendix A. For a detailed discussion of the characteristics of the SHM sample, see Miller Gaubert, Gubits, Alderson, and Knox (Forthcoming, 2012).

²²Couples are categorized as Hispanic, white, or African-American if both spouses self-selected that race/ethnicity. The "other/multiracial" category includes couples who are of different race/ethnicity (70 percent), couples in which at least one spouse has more than one race/ethnicity (15 percent), couples in which both of these conditions are true (8 percent), and couples who both self-identified as only Asian, Pacific Islander, Native American, or Other (8 percent).

Demographic and Socioeconomic	Characteristics	of Cou	ples in th	he Full SHN Program Lo	M Sam	ple at Stu	idy Ent	ry	
Characteristic ^a	Bronx Oklahom	a City	Orlando I	ennsylvania	Seattle	Shoreline	Texas	Wichita	Overall
<u>Socioeconomic characteristics</u> Race and ethnicity (%)									
Both spouses Hispanic	41.7	23.7	40.2	88.3	9.2	50.6	92.0	6.6	43.4
Both spouses African-American, non-Hispanic	36.0	8.5	13.6	1.9	14.0	3.2	0.6	11.5	11.2
Both spouses white, non-Hispanic	0.9	40.4	17.7	1.9	27.0	22.4	1.5	46.4	20.5
Other/multiracial	21.3	27.0	28.4	7.9	49.7	23.8	6.0	35.6	24.8
Both spouses have at least a high school diploma (%)	39.9	60.9	72.0	30.5	49.4	40.8	46.5	56.4	50.3
Average age (years)	35.6	27.5	31.5	33.2	27.0	32.4	33.5	31.2	31.4
Income 100% to less than 200% of FPL (%)	29.8	40.2	58.9	37.1	33.9	40.8	37.8	34.7	39.4
Income less than 100% of FPL (%)	42.0	24.9	30.3	51.9	51.8	41.4	49.2	55.5	42.8
Family characteristics									
Expecting a child (%)	8.6	79.0	8.5	7.7	98.1	12.9	7.9	14.0	30.4
Average number of children in the household	2.0	1.2	2.3	2.5	1.2	2.2	2.4	2.4	2.0
Married at the time of random assignment (%)	68.8	96.4	98.1	71.2	50.7	73.5	89.4	89.4	80.9
Average number of years married	7.4	3.9	5.6	9.1	2.8	6.9	9.0	5.1	6.2
Stepfamily (%)	40.2	13.9	25.2	30.8	16.5	20.6	25.5	42.8	26.4
<u>Marital appraisals (%)</u>									
Men report happy or very happy in marriage	74.9	90.9	82.2	7.77	88.9	76.1	77.2	74.2	80.5
Women report happy or very happy in marriage	70.5	88.1	78.9	70.1	91.2	70.0	65.4	65.0	75.1
Men report marriage in trouble	62.9	35.0	57.7	51.3	44.4	56.9	66.3	69.0	55.2
Women report marriage in trouble	64.4	33.4	58.5	52.5	46.8	58.7	70.7	74.4	57.1
Adult well-being (%)									
Either spouse has psychological distress	23.8	10.6	18.9	30.3	17.0	26.2	32.5	32.6	23.5
Either spouse reports substance abuse problem	28.1	13.7	12.3	18.5	24.2	24.2	25.7	21.9	20.8
Sample size (couples)	662	1,001	801	677	678	782	800	760	6,298

Table 2

SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM Baseline Information Forms.

NOTES: Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences. ^aAppendix Table A.1 explains how these characteristics are defined.

The majority of couples (81 percent) were married when they enrolled in the evaluation;²³ this ranged from 51 percent in Seattle to 98 percent in Orlando.²⁴ Couples in the study had been married for about six years, on average. All of those who enrolled were parents or expectant parents. Couples had, on average, two children. More than a quarter were stepfamilies. Close to 80 percent of husbands and wives reported that they were happy with their marriages, but a little more than half reported thinking in the past year that their marriage was in trouble. About one-fourth of couples had at least one spouse who was experiencing psychological distress, and about one-fifth of couples had at least one spouse who reported having a substance abuse problem.

• The characteristics of couples in the SHM evaluation varied substantially across local programs.

The Texas and Pennsylvania programs enrolled primarily Hispanic couples (92 percent and 88 percent, respectively), but there was more racial and ethnic diversity in other programs. The percentage of couples, for example, falling in the other or mixed race/ethnicity category varied across programs and ranged from 8 percent in Pennsylvania to 50 percent in Seattle. The percentage of couples in which both spouses had at least a high school diploma ranged from 31 percent in Pennsylvania to 72 percent in Orlando. The percentage of couples with incomes less than 100 percent of the federal poverty level ranged from 25 percent in Oklahoma City to 56 percent in Wichita, while the percentage of couples with incomes between 100 percent and 200 percent of the federal poverty level ranged from 30 percent in the Bronx to 59 percent in Orlando. Oklahoma City and Seattle targeted new and expectant parents, so all the families in these programs were either expecting a child or had an infant, and couples in these programs were younger, on average, than couples in the other programs. The characteristics of couples' marital relationships also varied considerably by program, as did the percentage of couples who were married at study entry, as discussed above. The average length of marriage ranged from

²³This information comes from a retrospective question, which was a late addition to the SHM 12-month survey. Fifty-nine percent of couples in the SHM research sample were asked whether they were married at enrollment; those who were not asked this question were clustered primarily in Oklahoma and Texas. The percentages in Table 2 reflect the responses only of couples who were asked the question at the 12-month follow-up. The overall percentage is weighted by local program sample sizes. The 12-month impact analysis includes couples enrolled in the study, regardless of their marital status at study entry. As a sensitivity check, the impact estimates were also conducted excluding couples who reported that they were not married when they entered the study; those results (not shown) mirror the impact estimates presented in the body of this report.

²⁴At the time of enrollment, SHM programs asked couples whether they were married but did not ask for proof of marriage. Some programs, such as Seattle's, asked couples whether they considered themselves to be married, rather than whether they were legally married, while other programs placed more emphasis on legal marriage as an eligibility requirement.

three to four years in Seattle and Oklahoma City to nine years in Pennsylvania and Texas. More husbands and wives in Oklahoma City and Seattle reported that they were happy in their relationships than in the other programs.

• Compared with married couples with children in the United States, SHM couples were more likely to be low-income.

According to the American Community Survey (ACS), the median annual family income for all married couples with children in the United States in 2008 was \$78,000. Of those families, 6.5 percent lived in poverty, and 15.4 percent were considered to be low-income.²⁵ In contrast, couples in the SHM evaluation were substantially more likely to be low-income. As discussed above, 43 percent of SHM couples lived in poverty, and 82 percent of couples were low-income.

• Compared with national samples of low-income married couples with children, more couples in the SHM evaluation reported that their marriages were in trouble.

Comparisons between the SHM sample and low-income couples in the United States can also provide helpful context. Two nationally representative surveys that include low-income married respondents and that ask some similar questions to the SHM baseline form are the Survey of Marriage and Family Life (SMFL)²⁶ and the National Survey of Families and Households (NSFH).²⁷ Compared with these two national survey samples of low-income

²⁵The sample used for this comparison includes married couples in the 2008 American Community Survey (ACS) who had one or more child under the age of 18 living in the household.

²⁶Data in the SMFL were collected by Paul Amato, Alan Booth, David Johnson, and Stacy Rogers; see Booth, Amato, Johnson, and Rogers (2002). The SMFL sample consists of 2,100 individuals who were married, living with their spouse, and age 55 or younger; one individual per household was interviewed. The sample is weighted to represent the 2000 U.S. population of married individuals under 55. Descriptive characteristics of low-income married couples with children in the SMFL (defined as all married couples in the SMFL who had a child under age 18 and who had family incomes that were less than 200 percent of the federal poverty level) are shown in Appendix Table A.2. This information was drawn from unpublished calculations conducted by Paul Amato solely for the purposes of this report.

²⁷The NSFH is a longitudinal data set collected by the University of Wisconsin; for more information, see http://www.ssc.wisc.edu/nsfh/. The NSFH sample includes 13,007 households; of these, 9,637 are part of the main cross-section, and the rest are an oversampling of African-Americans, Puerto Ricans, Mexican Americans, single-parent families, families with stepchildren, and cohabiting or recently married couples. The NSFH includes three waves of survey interviews, with the first wave taking place in 1987 and 1988. Interviews were attempted with both spouses, and the sample is weighted to represent the U.S. population. In Appendix Table A.2, descriptive characteristics of low-income married couples with children in the NSFH are shown. This information is drawn from unpublished calculations conducted by the authors of this report. The sample for these calculations included all married (spouse-present) couples in Wave 1 who had a child under age 18 and who had family incomes of less than 200 percent of the federal poverty level in the NSFH.

married couples with children (Appendix Table A.2), SHM couples were slightly younger and had younger children in their household. SHM couples were married only six years on average, compared with 13 years for the SMFL sample and 11 years for the NSFH sample. Slightly more SHM sample members had at least a high school diploma or General Educational Development (GED) certificate than the NSFH sample members.

Couples in the SHM sample reported being less happy with their marriages than couples in the national samples, and a higher percentage of SHM couples reported thinking that their marriage was in trouble during the past year. Only 29 percent of SHM men reported being very happy with their marriages, compared with 48 percent of men in the SMFL and 47 percent of men in the NSFH. Approximately 55 percent of men in the SHM sample reported thinking during the past year that their marriage was in trouble, compared with 32 percent of men in the SMFL and 24 percent in the NSFH. Results for women are similar (Appendix Table A.2).

Taken together, the characteristics presented here paint a complex portrait of couples who enrolled in the SHM evaluation. They were lower-income and unhappier in their relationships than most married couples with children in the United States. Reflecting previous findings that couples who are unhappier in their relationships are at greater risk of marital disruption,²⁸ the typical SHM couple may be more vulnerable to relationship instability than the average low-income couple in the nation. This may reflect that the research sample consists of couples who volunteered for a relationship-strengthening program.

²⁸Karney and Bradbury (1995).

Impacts on Services Received by Couples in the SHM Program Group and Those in the Control Group

As with any voluntary program, couples in the Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) program group may not actually have used all the services that were offered. On the other hand, couples in the control group may have used services like those offered by SHM, but from other community resources. If this were the case, the difference in services received by couples in the program group and those in the control group could be small, making it difficult to draw conclusions about the effectiveness of the SHM program.

As a first step in understanding the effects of the SHM program on various outcomes of interest, impacts on service receipt for the overall sample as reported by study participants are examined. (See Table 3. Box 2 explains how to read the estimated impact tables in this report.)

The SHM program group received significantly more relationship skills education in group settings than the control group. The majority of control group couples reported never receiving any relationship-related services.

Program group couples participated in relationship services in a group setting at a much higher rate than control group couples (Table 3). About 89 percent of program group couples reported receiving any group-based relationship services, compared with 24 percent of control group couples. This is not surprising, given that group-based workshops in relationship skills education were the primary component of the SHM program. Furthermore, program group couples reported receiving a higher dosage of such services. About 42 percent of program group couples reported attending more than 10 sessions, compared with less than 3 percent of control group couples. Control group couples were more likely than program group couples to report that they participated in zero or one session.²⁹

It is also possible that control group members would seek out alternative relationship services, such as one-on-one marriage or relationship counseling, because they could not participate in SHM. To explore this possibility, impacts on the receipt of one-on-one marriage

²⁹An analysis of data from the SHM management information system (MIS data) shows that most spouses attended SHM sessions together (Miller Gaubert, Gubits, Alderson, and Knox, Forthcoming, 2012). For impacts on participation outcomes analyzed by local program, see Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix H, which shows few significant differences in impacts by local program.

Table 3

Estimated Impacts on Couples' Participation in Relationship Services and Referrals Since Random Assignment

	Program	Control	Difference	Standard
Outcome ^a	Group	Group	(Impact)	Error ^b
Receipt of group relationship services ^c (%)				
Number of times attended			***	
0	10.9	76.3	-65.4	_
1	2.8	9.1	-6.3	_
2-5	12.9	6.8	6.1	_
6-10	31.8	5.2	26.6	_
More than 10	41.6	2.6	39.0	_
Receipt of one-on-one relationship services ^d (%)				
Number of times attended				
0	79.8	81.8	-1.9	_
1	2.5	3.0	-0.5	_
2-5	9.7	8.6	1.2	_
6-10	5.7	4.7	1.0	_
More than 10	2.2	1.9	0.3	_
Referrals of either spouse for (%)				
Parenting classes and/or child care	44.3	37.0	7.3 ***	1.3
Assistance with issues related to work				
readiness and/or financial security	69.4	74.8	-5.4 ***	1.2
Assistance with issues related to mental				
health and/or substance abuse	23.6	21.0	2.5 **	1.1
Sample size (couples)	2,650	2,745		

SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-Month Follow-Up Survey.

NOTES: To assess differences across research groups, chi-square tests were used for categorical outcomes. For other outcomes, estimates were regression-adjusted using ordinary least squares, controlling for pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: *** = 1 percent; ** = 5 percent; * = 10 percent. Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

^aFor detailed notes about the construction of these outcomes, see Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix E.

^bA dash indicates that the standard error was not calculated for categorical outcomes.

^cõGroup relationship servicesö includes marriage or relationship skills education services that are conducted in a group session and received with a spouse.

dõOne-on-one relationship servicesö includes services received outside SHM with or without a spouse.

Box 2

How to Read the Estimated Impact Tables in This Report

The effects, or impacts, of the SHM program are estimated by comparing outcomes for the program group and the control group. These comparisons are made with regression models that adjust for the background characteristics of the sample members.

The impact estimates presented in this report are often referred to as õintent-to-treatö impact estimates, because all couples assigned to the program group and all couples assigned to the control group ô regardless of whether or how long they were engaged in SHM services ô are included in the impact analysis. The core set of impact estimates presented in this report use data pooled across all eight SHM local programs. Impacts were also estimated separately for each local SHM program as well as for subgroups of couples defined by three characteristics at study entry: level of marital distress, income relative to poverty level, and race/ethnicity.

The impact tables in this report present a series of numbers that are helpful for interpreting the estimated impacts of the SHM program. The first two columns of numbers are the regression-adjusted mean values or percentages for the program group and the control group for each outcome. In Table 3, for example, 41.6 percent of the program group reported attending group relationship services more than 10 times, compared with 2.6 percent of the control group.

The numbers in the column õDifference (Impact)ö display the estimated impacts, or the differences in mean values or percentages on the outcome of interest between the program group and the control group. In Table 3, for instance, the estimated impact on attending group relationship services more than 10 times is 39.0 percentage points (41.6 percent in the program group minus 2.6 percent in the control group).

The impact estimates are translated into standardized effect sizes by dividing the impact estimate by the standard deviation of the outcome of interest for the control group. Effect sizes are one way to interpret the substantive significance of the impact estimates. The magnitude of effect sizes can be interpreted with respect to empirical benchmarks that are relevant to the intervention, target population, and outcome measures being considered,* but, in the absence of such information, one can broadly characterize the potential substantive significance of the impacts by using general rules of thumb suggested by Cohen, whereby effect sizes of 0.20 or less are considered õsmallö; an effect size of 0.50 is considered õmoderateö; and effect sizes of 0.80 or above are considered õlarge.ö^Ä Effect sizes for binary outcomes are not presented in this report because percentage point impacts are readily interpretable.

The number of asterisks shown in the tables indicates whether a given estimated impact is statistically significant (or that the estimated impact is large enough that it is unlikely to be due to a program that had no true effect). One asterisk indicates statistical significance at the 10 percent level; two asterisks, at the 5 percent level; and three asterisks, at the 1 percent level. (Similarly, the appendix tables that examine impacts for local SHM programs or for subgroups use daggers to show significant differences across groups.) The standard errors in the tables are estimates of the variability (or statistical imprecision) of the impacts of the SHM program; larger standard errors indicate greater uncertainty about the magnitude of the impact estimates.

NOTES: *Hill, Bloom, Black, and Lipsey (2007). ^ÄCohen (1988). or relationship services were also examined, using information gathered by the survey at the 12month follow-up point (Table 3); the estimated effects on the number of times that people attended one-on-one relationship services are not statistically significant. Furthermore, approximately 82 percent of the control group did not receive any one-on-one relationship services, suggesting that control group members did not attend services that were an alternative to SHM.

• The SHM program had mixed impacts on whether either spouse consulted with anyone about parenting classes or child care, work readiness or financial issues, and mental health or substance abuse.

Lastly, because SHMøs family support services were envisioned as a mechanism for linking couples with other social services as needed, the impacts of the SHM program on couplesø referrals for assistance with issues related to parenting, child care, employment, finances, and mental health or substance abuse were also examined. The findings in this area are mixed (Table 3). Program group couples were more likely than control group couples to consult with someone about parenting classes or issues related to mental health or substance abuse, but control group couples were more likely to consult with someone about work readiness or financial issues.

Short-Term Impacts on Marital and Coparenting Relationships and on Adult Psychological Distress

As discussed above and summarized in Box 3, the Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) impact analysis was limited to a small set of outcomes that are likely to be affected at the 12-month follow-up. A central aim of the SHM program was to improve the quality of marital relationships and, in turn, the stability of couples' marriages (Figure 1, above). Accordingly, the SHM curricula focused on communication and conflict resolution skills and on building positive connections between spouses, including deeper understanding of each other's perspectives, as a means of improving not only the way couples interacted with each other but also their appraisals of their marital relationships.

To examine the short-term impacts of the SHM program in this area, the research team selected a core set of measures identified by the literature as being key indicators of the quality of marital interactions and appraisals of marital relationships, using the 12-month survey data. (Box 4 describes how the primary self-reported outcomes are defined.) This section presents the estimated effects on those outcomes at the 12-month follow-up point. Subsequent reports will examine the longer-term impacts of SHM on such outcomes as parenting, fathers' engagement, and child well-being.

Impacts on Marital Status and Appraisals of Overall Marital Quality

• The SHM program did not have a significant impact on couples' relationship status.

As shown in Table 4, about 90 percent of couples in both the program group and the control group reported being married to or in a committed relationship with the partner they had when they entered the study. Of these couples, 89 percent reported being married at follow-up, and 11 percent reported being in a committed relationship.³⁰

• The SHM program had positive estimated impacts on couples' relationship appraisals, as evidenced by higher reported marital happiness and

³⁰As discussed above, of couples who were asked at follow-up about their relationship status at baseline, a percentage reported that they were not married at study entry (Table 2, above). This group was given the option of reporting that they were in a committed relationship with the partner that they had when they entered the study. At the 12-month follow-up, 17 percent of couples in this group reported being married; 62 percent reported being in a committed relationship; and 21 percent reported being separated or divorced or having had their marriage annulled.

Box 3

The Multiple Comparisons Problem

Results in this report are characterized in terms of statistical significance. A statistically significant impact estimate is one that is unlikely to have been the result of a truly ineffective program. When an impact estimate is statistically significant at the 10 percent level, for example, it means that there is only a 10 percent chance that an ineffective program would have generated such a large impact estimate.

Although this logic applies when looking at one impact estimate, it is also relevant when multiple outcomes are examined. Increasing the number of impact estimates examined increases the likelihood that one estimate will be statistically significant by chance, even if the program had no true effect. For example, if ten independent outcomes are examined, there is a 65 percent chance that one of them will be statistically significant at the 10 percent level purely by chance, even if the program is truly ineffective. Likewise, if 50 independent impact estimates are examined, one is almost surely likely to be significant at the 10 percent level even if the program is truly ineffective.

To guard against the possibility of drawing wrong conclusions about the effectiveness of SHM and for whom the program is more effective or less effective, several strategies were used. First, the impact analysis was limited to a relatively small number of outcomes. Rather than examining all possible outcomes, the impact analysis in this report was limited to 26 prespecified core outcomes for which SHM was expected to have its largest effects in the first 12 months. Reducing the number of outcomes reduced the chance of a spurious finding of statistical significance.

Second, the set of subgroups examined in the impact analysis was also intentionally kept small and was specified ahead of time. In particular, results are examined across only three sets of subgroups of families and across the eight SHM programs.

Finally, the results were "eyeballed" to see whether their pattern suggested that the impact estimates were real rather than likely due to chance. One way of doing this is simply to count the number of statistically significant findings. For example, only 1 of 26 impact estimates differed significantly with a family's income. Because 1 of 26 estimates can be significant even when there is no true difference, the team concluded that SHM's effects were unlikely to differ substantially by family income. Likewise, the large number of significant impacts for the pooled sample suggested that this was not a chance finding and that SHM really improved relationship quality and other outcomes. Although there are formal statistical methods for making these assessments, an eyeball test was used because there is no consensus on the appropriate way to adjust for multiple comparisons and because formal methods can be conservative and too often result in the conclusion that the program is ineffective.

Box 4

Descriptions of the Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey

Married (%)

The outcome is examined at a couple level. Couples are considered married if both spouses report that they are married or in a committed relationship. If either of the respondents indicates that the couple is separated, divorced, or had the marriage annulled, the outcome is coded with a negative (0) response. If only one spouse responds, that response is used for the couple.

Couples' average report of relationship happiness (Scale: 1 to 7; M = 5.85; SD = 1.11) The outcome is examined at a couple level. Respondents are asked how happy they are with their marriages. If both spouses respond to this question, the average of the responses is used. If only one of the spouses responds, the single response is used.

Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)

The outcome is examined at a couple level. Respondents are asked whether they thought that their marriage was in trouble in the past three months. If either spouse answered by saying that they were "Divorced more than three months ago," the outcome was not created. Otherwise, if either spouse indicated that they had thought that their marriage was in trouble, an affirmative outcome was created.

Reports of warmth and support (Scale: 1 to 4; $\alpha = 0.86$; M = 3.39; SD = 0.49)

The outcome is examined separately for men and women and is the average of responses to seven items aimed at capturing warmth and support in couple relationships. Sample items include: "My spouse expresses love and affection toward me"; "My spouse listens to me when I need someone to talk to"; and "I trust my spouse completely."

Reports of positive communication skills (Scale: 1 to 4; $\alpha = 0.80$; M = 3.20; SD = 0.57)

The outcome is examined separately for men and women and is the average of responses to seven items aimed at capturing how the couple communicates during disagreements. Sample items include: "My spouse understands that there are times when I do not feel like talking and times when I do"; "We are good at working out our differences"; and "During arguments, my spouse and I are good at taking breaks when we need them."

Reports of negative behavior and emotions (Scale: 1 to 4; $\alpha = 0.87$; M = 2.17; SD = 0.77)

The outcome is examined separately for men and women and is the average of responses to seven items aimed at capturing negative interactions that occur during disagreements. Sample items include: "My spouse was rude and mean to me when we disagreed"; "My spouse seemed to view my words or actions more negatively than I meant them to be"; and "My spouse has yelled or screamed at me."

(continued)

Box 4 (continued)

Reports of psychological abuse (Scale: 1 to 4; $\alpha = 0.76$; M = 1.29; SD = 0.46)

This outcome is examined separately for men and women. Psychological aggression is the average of the responses to six items. Example items include, "Have you felt afraid that your spouse would hurt you?" "Has your spouse accused you of having an affair?" "Has your spouse tried to keep you from seeing or talking with your friends or family?"

Reports of physical assault and any severe physical assault (%)

These outcomes are examined separately for men and women. Two measures indicating (1) any physical assault and (2) any severe physical assault (defined as whether spouse used a knife, gun, or weapon or choked, slammed, kicked, burned or beat them) in the past three months. Responses were to adapted questions from the Revised Conflict Tactics Scale.

Neither spouse reports infidelity (%)

This outcome is examined at the couple level. It measures whether either respondent reported cheating on one's spouse with someone else or either respondent believes that the spouse had "definitely" cheated with someone else in the past three months.

Individual psychological distress (Scale: 1 to 4; $\alpha = 0.86$; M = 1.93; SD = 0.76)

A measure of individual psychological distress is created from responses to the K6 Mental Health Screening Tool.*

Reports of cooperative coparenting (Scale: 1 to 4; $\alpha = 0.87$; M = 3.37; SD = 0.56)

This outcome is examined separately for men and women. Cooperative coparenting is created from six items. Example items include "How well the respondent gets along with the spouse when it comes to parenting," "Whether they are able to work out good solutions when there is a problem with the children," "Whether respondent can turn to the spouse for support and advice when there's a rough day with the children."

NOTES: Additional information about the construction of the primary 12-month survey outcome measures and the analyses used to assess the reliability and validity of the measures are presented in Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012).

 α = Cronbach's alpha; M = mean; SD = standard deviation.

*A slightly adapted version of the K6 Mental Health Screening Tool (Kessler et al., 2003) was administered to study participants, in which the response scale was modified from a 5-point scale to a 4point scale, ranging from "often" to "never."

Table 4

Estimated Impacts on Relationship Status and Marital Appraisals Based on the 12-Month Survey

	Program	Control	Difference	Effect	Standard
Outcome ^a	Group	Group	(Impact)	Size ^b	Error
Relationship status Married ^c (%)	90.0	89.3	0.8	_	0.8
<u>Marital appraisals</u> Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^d Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	5.93 47.7	5.77 52.9	0.15 -5.2	0.13 *** _ ***	0.03
Sample size (couples)	2.650	2,745			

SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-Month Follow-Up Survey.

NOTES: Estimates were regression-adjusted using ordinary least squares, controlling for pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: *** = 1 percent; ** = 5 percent; * = 10 percent. Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

^aBox 4 describes how these outcomes are defined.

^bA dash indicates that a value is not shown for dichotomous outcomes because percentage point differences are readily interpretable. Effect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group.

^cThis includes couples who, at follow-up, were still married or still in a committed relationship with the same partner they had when they entered the study.

^dThe scale ranges from 1 to 7, where 1 = "completely unhappy" and 7 = "completely happy."

lower levels of marital distress in the program group than the control group.

The SHM program affected couples' appraisals of the quality of their marital relationships. Program group couples reported higher relationship happiness than their control group counterparts approximately 12 months after they entered the study (Table 4). On a scale where 1 is "completely unhappy" and 7 is "completely happy," the average responses in the program group and control group were 5.93 and 5.77, respectively, which translates to a difference of a 0.15 point impact with an effect size of 0.13 standard deviation. An impact of this magnitude could theoretically occur, for example, if the program changed the reported marital happiness of 425 couples (about 16 percent of couples in the program group) from 5 to 6 on the 7-point scale. However, because translating impacts in this way is often not possible, effect sizes are one way to interpret the substantive significance of impact estimates. The potential substantive significance of the impacts can be broadly characterized using general rules of thumb from prior research, where effect sizes of 0.20 standard deviation or less are considered "small," effect sizes of 0.50 standard deviation are considered "moderate," and effect sizes of 0.80 standard deviation or above are considered "large."³¹

The SHM program also affected couples' reports of thinking, in the past three months before the survey interview, that their marriage was in trouble. This measure is commonly used to characterize marital distress, which can be predictive of later divorce or separation among married couples.³² Fewer program group couples reported thinking that their marriage was in trouble than control group couples; about 53 percent of the control group reported thinking that their marriage was in trouble in the past three months, compared with about 48 percent of the program group — a reduction of 5 percentage points.

Impacts on Self-Reported Positive and Negative Marital Interactions

One method of assessing the quality of marital interactions is to ask each spouse about the extent to which positive and negative emotions and behaviors and effective communication skills are expressed in their relationship. Information from these questions on the 12-month follow-up interviews is presented first, followed by an analysis of similar constructs developed from the videotaped observations of couple interactions. The data show a pattern of small, positive impacts by SHM on the quality of marital interactions. There is little evidence of differences in these impacts between men and women or across local SHM programs.³³

• Program group members reported more positive emotions and communication, and fewer negative emotions and behaviors, in their relationships than their counterparts in the control group.

As shown in Table 5, the SHM program improved the amount of self-reported warmth and support expressed in couple relationships. Using a 4-point scale, men in the program group reported an average score of warmth and support of 3.46, which is 0.04 point higher than the score reported by control group men. Program group women reported an average score of warmth and support of 3.37, which is 0.05 point higher than the score reported by control group women. These impacts translate to an effect size of 0.09 standard deviation for both men and women.

The SHM program group, on average, also reported higher use of positive communication skills than the control group. Using a 4-point scale, program group men reported an average

³¹Cohen (1988).

³²Karney and Bradbury (1995).

³³See Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix I and Appendix J.

Table 5

Estimated Impacts on Reported Quality of Marital Interactions Based on the 12-Month Survey

	Program	Control	Difference	Effect	Standard
Outcome ^{a,b}	Group	Group	(Impact)	Size ^c	Error
Warmth and support in relationship					
Men's report of warmth and support	3.46	3.42	0.04	0.09 ***	0.01
Women's report of warmth and support	3.37	3.32	0.05	0.09 ***	0.01
Positive communication skills in relationship					
Men's report of positive communication skills	3.24	3.19	0.05	0.08 ***	0.01
Women's report of positive communication skills	3.22	3.15	0.07	0.11 ***	0.01
<u>Negative interactions in relationship</u>					
Men's report of negative behavior and emotions	2.16	2.23	-0.07	-0.08 ***	0.02
Women's report of negative behavior and emotions	2.10	2.19	-0.09	-0.12 ***	0.02
Sample size					
Men	2,415	2,504			
Women	2,575	2,668			

SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-Month Follow-Up Survey.

NOTES: Estimates were regression-adjusted using ordinary least squares, controlling for pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: *** = 1 percent; ** = 5 percent; * = 10 percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

^aBox 4 describes how these outcomes are defined.

^bThe scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher scores indicate higher levels of the respective outcomes: warmth and support, positive communication skills, and negative behavior and emotions.

^cEffect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group.

score of positive communication skills of 3.24, which is 0.05 point higher than the score of control group men, for an effect size of 0.08 standard deviation. Program group women reported an average score of positive communication skills of 3.22, which is 0.07 point higher than the score of control group women, for an effect size of 0.11 standard deviation.

Program group members reported fewer negative behaviors and emotions in their relationship than their counterparts in the control group. Also using a 4-point scale, program group men reported an average score of 2.16, compared with 2.23 for men in the control group, which is an impact with an effect size of -0.08 standard deviation. Program group women reported an average score of 2.10, compared with 2.19 for women in the control group, which is an impact with an effect size of -0.12 standard deviation.

Impacts on Observed Positive and Negative Couple Interactions

A similar pattern of positive impacts emerges when marital functioning is measured using videotaped observations of couple interactions. (Box 5 describes the primary outcomes based on observed marital interactions, and Box 6 describes how a couple's typical interactions might look in the SHM evaluation).³⁴ The impacts on observed positive and negative couple interactions are again small and subtle in magnitude. Nonetheless, there is a notable correspondence in the direction and magnitude of the impacts on marital functioning across the data sources — self-reports and independent direct observations.

• In observed couple interactions, the program group engaged in more positive communication skills and less anger and hostility, on average, than the control group.³⁵

Relative to the control group overall, as shown in Table 6, men and women in the SHM program group showed greater use of positive communication techniques in their observed couple interactions. Women in the program group exhibited significantly fewer expressions of anger and hostility in couple interactions than their counterparts in the control group. These impacts suggest that the SHM program not only changed the way that participants viewed their marriages but also the extent to which they were able to implement the skills taught by the SHM curricula in their interactions. However, no significant impacts were found for husbands in the extent to which they expressed anger and hostility when speaking with their wives. Furthermore, no significant impacts were found for either spouse in the degree to which they expressed warmth and support in their couple interactions.

Impacts on Psychological and Physical Abuse and on Infidelity

The 12-month follow-up survey interviews also asked respondents about the extent to which they experienced psychological and physical abuse in their marital relationships.

³⁴Unweighted impact estimates on observed couple interaction outcomes are presented. Because equal numbers of couples in each of the local SHM programs were flagged to participate in the videotaped observations and because couples with infants and with preadolescent and adolescent focal children were oversampled, the impact estimates were also calculated with a variety of weights to understand the extent to which the impact estimates might be representative of estimates for the survey respondent sample or for the full SHM sample; see Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix F. The results of these analyses suggest that the impact estimates on observed couple interaction outcomes are not highly sensitive to weighting.

³⁵Differences in impacts between men and women are not statistically significant.

Box 5

Descriptions of the Primary Outcomes Based on Observed Marital Interactions

Observed warmth and support (Scale: 1 to 9;^{*} α = 0.70; M = 1.97; SD = 0.66)

The outcome captures the extent to which warmth, supportive, and positive emotions and behaviors are expressed by a spouse in the couple interactions. The outcome was created separately for men and women by taking the average value of the following five codes[†] from the Iowa Family Interaction Rating Scale (IFIRS):[‡] Warmth/Support, Humor/Laugh, Positive Mood, Group Enjoyment, and Physical Affection.[§]

Observed positive communication skills (Scale: 1 to 9;^{*} α = 0.79; M = 5.63; SD = 0.83)

The outcome encompasses the degree to which a spouse employs effective communication techniques and skills, is actively engaged in the discussion, and facilitates problem solving in the couple interactions. The outcome was created separately for men and women by taking the average value of the following seven codes[†] from the IFIRS:[‡] Assertiveness, Listener Responsiveness, Communication, Effective Process and Disruptive Process (reverse coded), Denial (reverse coded), and Avoidant (reverse coded).[§]

Observed anger and hostility (Scale: 1 to 9;^{*} α = 0.82; M = 1.33; SD = 0.56)

The outcome assesses the extent to which a spouse expresses hostility, anger, and other coercive and negative emotions and behaviors in the couple interactions. The outcome was created separately for men and women by taking the average value of the following four codes[†] from the IFIRS:[‡] Hostility, Contempt, Angry Coercion, and Verbal Attack.[§]

NOTES: Additional information about the construction of the primary outcome measures based on observed marital interactions and the measurement analyses used to assess the reliability and validity of the measures are presented in Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012).

 α = Cronbach's alpha; M = mean; SD = standard deviation.

^{*}The IFIRS codes are scored on a scale ranging from 1 to 9, where 1 indicates that the behavior is "not at all characteristic" of an individual (or that the behavior is never exhibited by the individual) and 9 indicates that the behavior is "mainly characteristic" of an individual in a given interaction (or that the behavior is consistently and frequently exhibited with high intensity). For varying degrees of behaviors, a score of 3 indicates that the behavior is infrequently exhibited, and when the behavior is evident, it is expressed at low intensity; a score of 5 indicates that the behavior is exhibited fairly often at an elevated intensity. Scores of 2, 4, 6, and 8 are entered when the behavior exhibited by an individual falls somewhere between the foregoing scores.

^{*}Each code for a given individual was created by taking the average value for that code across the measures of husband social support, wife social support, and problem-solving interactions. Then the averaged interaction codes were used to create the composite outcome scales for each individual's observed marital interactions.

[‡]Melby et al. (1998).

[§]Appendix B describes the IFIRS codes listed here.

Box 6

How a Typical Couple's Observed Interactions Might Look in the SHM Evaluation

Insights into how the conversations of a typical couple in the SHM sample might look can be gained by translating raters' scores on the codes of the Iowa Family Interaction Ratings Scale (IFIRS)^{*} into the likely behaviors that spouses exhibited in interactions with each other. Box 5 describes the behaviors and scales used for outcomes based on observed marital interactions.

Observed warmth and support. In general, spouses rarely were physically affectionate with each other (Physical Affection, M = 1.20) and made few unqualified, outright warm or supportive declarations, like "I appreciate you!" (Warmth/Support, M = 1.74). Rather, the conversations of a typical couple tended to convey a somewhat positive mood and tone (Positive Mood, M = 2.09), and spouses seemed content and to enjoy talking to each other (Group Enjoyment, M = 2.18), but even these kinds of behaviors and emotions were relatively subdued.

Observed positive communication skills. By comparison, a typical couple's conversations were characterized by positive communication, in the sense that spouses tended to openly exchange ideas, thoughts, and feelings with each other (Communication, M = 4.67; Assertiveness, M = 3.86; Avoidant [reverse coded], M = 6.80). They also tended to listen actively to each other, saying things like "Mm-hmm" while the spouse was speaking (Listener Responsiveness, M = 4.27; Denial [reverse coded], M = 8.45). In much the same way, spouses were actively engaged in problem solving (Effective Process, M = 3.67; Disruptive Process [reverse coded], M = 7.67).

Observed anger and hostility. A typical spouse in the SHM sample showed little outright anger and hostility (as measured by that scale): the typical spouse seldom engaged in outright angry, critical, or disapproving behaviors of a spouse (Hostility, M = 1.72) and rarely showed contempt (Contempt, M = 1.39), made verbal threats (Angry Coercion, M = 1.12), or directed unqualified, demeaning, or derogatory statements at the spouse (Verbal Attack, M = 1.09).

NOTE: *Melby et al. (1998).

• Men and women in the program group reported less psychological abuse in their relationships, on average, than their control group counterparts.

As shown in Table 7, men and women in the program group had average scores that are 0.04 point less on a 4-point scale than the scores of their counterparts in the control group.

• Fewer men in the program group reported that their wives physically assaulted them during the past three months, relative to the control group, although the impact for women is not statistically significant.

Table 6

Estimated Impacts on Marital Quality Based on Observed Couple Interactions at 12 Months

	Program	Control	Difference	Effect	Standard
Outcome ^{a,b}	Group	Group	(Impact)	Size ^c	Error
Observed in couple interactions					
Men's warmth and support	1.98	1.95	0.03	0.05	0.03
Women's warmth and support	1.98	1.98	0.00	0.00	0.03
Men's positive communication skills	5.57	5.49	0.08	0.10 *	0.04
Women's positive communication skills	5.76	5.68	0.08	0.09 *	0.04
Men's anger and hostility	1.25	1.28	-0.03	-0.05	0.03
Women's anger and hostility	1.37	1.42	-0.06	-0.10 *	0.03
Sample size					
Men	695	702			
Women	695	702			

SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-Month Observational Study.

NOTES: Estimates were regression-adjusted using ordinary least squares, controlling for pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: *** = 1 percent; ** = 5 percent; * = 10 percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

^aBox 5 describes how these outcomes are defined.

^bThe scale ranges from 1 to 9, where higher scores indicate higher levels of the respective outcomes: warmth and support, positive communication skills, and anger and hostility.

^cEffect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group.

About 13 percent of control group men reported that their wives assaulted them, compared with about 11 percent of program group men; this is a 2 percentage point reduction in the proportion of men who reported experiencing physical assaults (Table 7).

When impacts were examined for the subset of physically aggressive behaviors that can be categorized as severe physical assault, such as choking or beating, SHM had no significant effects for men or women.

Lastly, the SHM program had no statistically significant effects on reported infidelity. In both the program group and the control group, about 92 percent of couples reported fidelity in their relationships.

Impacts on Spouses' Mental Health

• Men and women in the program group reported less individual psychological distress than their counterparts in the control group.

Table 7

Estimated Impacts on Psychological Abuse, Physical Assault, and Infidelity Based on the 12-Month Survey

	Program	Control	Difference	Effect	Standard
Outcome ^a	Group	Group	(Impact)	Size ^b	Error
Psychological abuse and physical assault					
Men's report of psychological abuse ^c	1.30	1.34	-0.04	-0.09 ***	0.01
Women's report of psychological abuse ^c	1.25	1.28	-0.04	-0.08 ***	0.01
Men's report of any physical assault (%)	11.3	13.4	-2.2	**	0.9
Women's report of any physical assault (%)	8.6	9.2	-0.5	_	0.8
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%)	1.5	1.9	-0.3	_	0.4
Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	1.6	1.6	0.0	—	0.4
<u>Fidelity</u>					
Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	92.4	91.3	1.1	—	0.7
Sample size					
Couples	2,650	2,745			
Men	2,415	2,504			
Women	2,575	2,668			

SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-Month Follow-Up Survey.

NOTES: Estimates were regression-adjusted using ordinary least squares, controlling for pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: *** = 1 percent; ** = 5 percent; * = 10 percent. Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

^aBox 4 describes how these outcomes are defined.

^bA dash indicates that a value is not shown for dichotomous outcomes because percentage point differences are readily interpretable. Effect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group.

^cThe scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher scores indicate higher levels of psychological abuse.

As shown in Table 8, the SHM program significantly affected the psychological wellbeing of spouses. Men in the program group reported an average score of psychological distress that is 0.05 point lower on a 4-point scale than the score for control group men, and program group women reported an average score that is 0.07 point lower than control group women reported. These translate to effect sizes of -0.06 and -0.09 standard deviation, respectively.

Impacts on the Coparenting Relationship

The SHM program may also affect how parents work together in their shared parenting roles. Since couples in the SHM program improved their communication skills, reduced harsh conflict, and increased their warmth and support, these benefits may carry over into their coparenting relationship.

Table 8

Estimated Impacts on Individual Psychological Distress and the Coparenting Relationship Based on the 12-Month Survey

	Program	Control	Difference	Effect	Standard
Outcome ^{a,b}	Group	Group	(Impact)	Size ^c	Error
Individual psychological distress					
Men's psychological distress	1.85	1.90	-0.05	-0.06 **	0.02
Women's psychological distress	1.95	2.02	-0.07	-0.09 ***	0.02
Coparenting relationship					
Men's report of cooperative coparenting	3.45	3.43	0.02	0.03	0.01
Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3.33	3.30	0.02	0.04	0.02
Sample size					
Men	2,415	2,504			
Women	2,575	2,668			

SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-Month Follow-Up Survey.

NOTES: Estimates were regression-adjusted using ordinary least squares, controlling for pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: *** = 1 percent; ** = 5 percent; * = 10 percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

^aBox 4 describes how these outcomes are defined.

^bThe scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher scores indicate higher levels of the respective outcomes: individual psychological distress and cooperative coparenting.

^cEffect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group.

• The SHM program did not significantly affect cooperative coparenting.

The SHM program did not have a statistically significant effect on the quality of the coparenting relationship, as measured by a scale of support and cooperation in shared child-rearing activities and responsibilities constructed from responses to survey items (Table 8).

Impacts Analyzed by Local SHM Program

All the local SHM programs implemented the full program model in adherence with program guidelines, though there were differences in the hours of couples' participation, in the local host agencies, in the characteristics of the couples who enrolled, in the characteristics of the local program staff, in the curricula that were used, and in program operations.³⁶ This section explores the extent to which there are differences in impacts across local programs.³⁷

• SHM's estimated impacts are generally consistent across the eight local programs in the evaluation.

Despite some variation in participation, in implementation features, and in characteristics of couples and programs, SHM's impacts are generally consistent across local programs. Estimated effects when analyzed by local SHM program are not statistically significantly different from one another, except for one outcome out of 20 survey outcomes that were examined: men's report of any physical assault. (See Appendix Table C.1; daggers are shown in the rightmost column to indicate whether the differences in impacts across local programs are statistically significant.)³⁸ Given the number of outcomes examined, one significant difference in impacts could have occurred by chance if the local programs all had the same true effects. In other words, differences in impacts across the sites are small enough that they may simply reflect the natural variation that occurs in studies of this size.

Although impacts do not vary significantly across the eight local programs, the magnitude of the estimated effects on reported marital-quality outcomes is slightly larger for programs using the Within Our Reach curriculum and smaller for programs using the Becoming Parents Program (Box 1, above, and Appendix Table C.1). However, it is not possible to reach definitive conclusions about whether some of the curricula are more effective or less effective than others, because different types of families were served by different curricula. In particular, the Becoming Parents Program served couples who just had or who were about to have a baby, and few such couples were served by the other programs or curricula. Likewise, two of the three local programs that had large Hispanic samples used Within Our Reach, and fewer Hispanic couples were served by most of the other local programs. Thus, it is not possible to determine

³⁶For details about local programs, see Miller Gaubert et al. (2010) and Miller Gaubert, Gubits, Alderson, and Knox (Forthcoming, 2012).

³⁷Impacts as analyzed by local SHM program were not estimated for the outcomes based on observed marital quality. Before the impact analysis was conducted, the sample sizes of the local programs were determined to be too small to reliably estimate impacts by local SHM program using the observational data.

³⁸When interpreting SHM's impacts by local program (or, later in this report, by subgroup), the emphasis is on whether there are statistically significant differences in estimated impacts across the local programs. Less emphasis is placed on whether the impacts in any one location are statistically significant. If SHM were equally effective for different local programs, some differences in impacts across the programs would still occur by chance. Finding statistically significant differences in impacts across local programs would show that the variation in impacts is greater than what would be expected by chance, indicating that SHM likely had different effects for different local programs. For detailed impacts at the level of the local program, see Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix H.

whether the effects are driven by the sample members' characteristics, the characteristics of local programs, or curricula differences — or some combination of the three.

Do SHM Program Impacts Vary for Subgroups of Couples?

Thus far, this report has examined estimated impacts of the Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) program for everyone for whom follow-up data were collected. The effects of the SHM program may differ for different subgroups of people defined using characteristics of sample members when they first entered the study. This section explores these possibilities.

The subgroup analysis was limited to three sets of characteristics that were chosen in advance and for which there are good reasons to expect impacts to differ. This analysis plan was intended to reduce the likelihood that a result would be statistically significant by chance.³⁹ (See Box 3, above.) These characteristics — identified on the basis of theory, prior research, and policy relevance — include:⁴⁰

- Level of marital distress. It was hypothesized that SHM might have different effects on couples experiencing different levels of marital distress when they entered the study. Since SHM was designed as a preventive intervention, for example, it might not be expected to affect couples who were already experiencing the highest levels of marital distress. At the same time, there may be little room for SHM to improve the relationships of couples with the lowest levels of marital distress. Therefore, the decision was made to look at SHM's differential effects by couples' level of marital distress when they entered the study.
- Family income-to-poverty level. While some marriage education programs have been found effective for middle-class families, very little research has examined the effects of marriage education among economically disadvan-taged families. Given this lack of research in low-income samples and the fact that the marriage education curricula used in the SHM programs were modified to make them more appropriate for low-income couples, it is important to examine whether and how SHM differentially affected couples at different income levels.

³⁹For descriptions of the analytic approaches to test the SHM subgroup impacts that are discussed in this section, see Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix D.

⁴⁰For details about how the subgroups were defined and for tables showing how the impacts of SHM on participation and referral outcomes vary for different groups of families, see Hsueh et al. (Forthcoming, 2012), Appendix J. Child age was also considered as a possible characteristic by which to define subgroups, but given that certain programs targeted expecting parents or those with infants, this characteristic is too highly related with program location to allow the analysis to confidently identify SHM's differential effects by child age.

• **Race/ethnicity.** Within the United States, different racial and ethnic groups display different marital patterns.⁴¹ Recognizing this, various federal initiatives, including the Hispanic Healthy Marriage Initiative and the African American Healthy Marriage Initiative, aim to develop culturally competent strategies for supporting healthy marriages and addressing the unique needs of these populations. Furthermore, the Building Strong Families evaluation identified a pattern of significant positive impacts of the program for African-American couples. Thus, while SHM aimed to deliver culturally competent services (even though the program content that was delivered through the four marriage education curricula was not adapted to focus on the needs of any one racial/ethnic group), it is important to see whether the SHM program worked equally well for different groups or whether it worked better for some groups than for others.

To explore the subgroup impacts of the SHM program, the impacts were estimated separately for each subgroup to see whether their magnitude and direction differ significantly. Appendix D presents the results of this "split-sample" subgroup analysis and provides some evidence that SHM's impacts differ significantly for subgroups of couples defined by level of marital distress and race/ethnicity. The number of impact estimates that differ significantly across the 26 survey and observed outcomes that were examined range from 1 to 3 for each of these subgroup sets.

• There is some evidence that the positive impacts of SHM are slightly larger for Hispanic couples and for couples with high marital distress at study entry.

A potential shortcoming of a split-sample approach is that it does not isolate which characteristics might be most influential in shaping the effects of the intervention, above and beyond other potential confounding factors. This can be a point of concern, given that the sample members' characteristics differ substantially across local SHM programs. As a result, it can be difficult to determine whether the impact estimates are driven by a particular subgroup characteristic, other associated characteristics, differences in local programs, or some combination of factors. The tables in Appendix E present a supplemental analysis that was conducted in an attempt to isolate how the effects of the SHM program vary for subgroups after accounting for a set of other observable differences across subgroups (referred to as the "full interaction model"). Even though this approach can be helpful in understanding how impacts are associated with different characteristics, its power to detect statistically significant differences in impacts

⁴¹Kreider and Ellis (2011).

across subgroups can be limited, and the impact estimates can be sensitive to how the analytic model is specified.

The full interaction analysis suggests that there are few statistically significant differences in how SHM affected subgroups of couples after adjustments were made for differences in impacts arising from other observable characteristics across subgroups. When examining all the outcomes across survey responses and observed marital interactions for the three subgroup sets (level of marital distress, income relative to poverty level, and race/ethnicity), only three statistically significant differences in impacts across all subgroups were found (Appendix E). These results suggest that there is some uncertainty about the extent to which differences in program impacts can be attributed to the subgroups of interest per se or to other characteristics that differ across couples, including the characteristics of local SHM programs.

Discussion

The 12-month impact results from the Supporting Healthy Marriage (SHM) evaluation provide some of the first evidence that a couples-based, family-strengthening intervention for lower-income married couples can improve the quality of marital relationships and functioning, as well as adult psychological well-being, when delivered on a large scale. As measured by survey and observational data, there are small, positive program-driven estimated impacts across multiple dimensions of marital interactions and functioning — namely, marital happiness, marital distress, positive communication skills, warm and supportive expressions of emotions and behaviors, expressions of negative emotions and behaviors, and psychological and physical abuse; there are also small program-driven improvements in parents' individual psychological well-being and adjustment. These impact estimates do not appear to differ significantly across the eight local SHM programs in the evaluation, though some evidence suggests that the program impacts vary somewhat by couples' racial and ethnic background and by their level of marital distress at study entry.

The number and consistency of impacts across a range of outcomes and data sources provide reassurance that the estimated impacts are not statistical anomalies. The question, then, is, How important are the impacts? The SHM program, for example, had a positive impact on couples' relationship appraisals: at the 12-month follow-up point, 48 percent of program group couples reported thinking in the past three months that their marriage was in trouble, compared with 53 percent of couples in the control group. This is a reduction of 5 percentage points. However, even at the 12-month follow-up point, a high proportion of program group couples still reported experiencing marital distress. As a point of comparison, for example, only 24 percent of men in the National Survey of Families and Households (NSFH) reported thinking in the past year that their marriage was in trouble.

Ultimately, answers to whether the short-term impacts of SHM are important lie in the longer-term impacts of the program. Prior longitudinal studies have often found that marital quality and adults' psychological functioning are predictive of future marital and relationship stability, as well as of outcomes for children.⁴² Thus, even though the impacts of the SHM program are small, it is possible that the short-term impacts may lead to longer-term positive effects on adult and child well-being.

SHM's effects on reducing psychological abuse for men and women are noteworthy, given that the presence of any abuse in the home can have important ramifications for adult and

⁴²Cowan and Cowan (2006); Cummings and Davies (2002); Downey and Coyne (1990); Grych and Fincham (2001); Karney and Bradbury (1995); Kessler, Walters, and Forthofer (1998).

child well-being.⁴³ The SHM program also reduced the extent to which men reported that their wives physically assaulted them. These reductions could potentially prevent other types of aggression from emerging in the longer run, given that prior research has found that physical aggression in relationships is typically mutual and can often escalate into reciprocal forms of physical aggression between spouses.⁴⁴

Taken together, the SHM impact results add to the growing body of evidence regarding the effectiveness of couples-focused, family-strengthening interventions. As discussed below, the impacts of the SHM program join a mixed set of findings regarding the effectiveness of couple-strengthening programs focused on low-income couples to date: the Building Strong Families (BSF) evaluation suggests that it is challenging to affect the relationship outcomes of low-income unmarried parents of newborns,⁴⁵ but the Supporting Father Involvement (SFI) intervention and the Strong Bonds studies — and now SHM — indicate that it is possible to strengthen the marital relationships of racially and ethnically diverse families who have low or modest incomes, at least in the short run.⁴⁶

The short-term impact results of SHM are consistently positive and larger than the effects of the BSF evaluation, a large-scale, multisite random assignment evaluation of a relationship skills education program for unmarried parents with a newborn or who were expecting a child. The BSF program had no overall significant impacts on the quality of couple relationships when pooled across eight local programs at a 15-month follow-up point.⁴⁷ It is difficult to know with certainty why the two studies produced different results. Although the SHM and BSF programs tested similar curricula and employed similar programmatic approaches to serving couples, the programs served couples at very different stages of their relationships. Couples in the SHM evaluation had been married, on average, for more than six years when they entered the study, whereas the couples in the BSF evaluation were unmarried. There are also considerable differences in the racial and ethnic composition of the study samples: African-American couples make up 52 percent of the BSF sample, compared with only 11 percent of the SHM sample. Across the two studies, program group members also took up services at very different rates: on the follow-up surveys, 61 percent of the BSF program couples and 89 percent of the SHM program couples reported ever participating in a group session about relationship skills. While it is not possible to disentangle the unique contributing roles of each of these factors, it is likely that differences in the two studies' impacts can be attributed to some combination of differences in their target populations, implementation, or take-up of services.

⁴³Coker et al. (2002); Kitzmann, Gaylord, Holt, and Kenny (2003).

⁴⁴Archer (2000).

⁴⁵Wood et al. (2010).

⁴⁶Cowan et al. (2009); Stanley et al. (2010).

⁴⁷Wood et al. (2010).

The short-term estimated impacts of SHM are positive, like those of another recent study — a random assignment evaluation of the Supporting Father Involvement (SFI) intervention, which is a preventive couples-focused program aimed at strengthening family functioning and fathers' involvement and that targets predominantly low-income Mexican parents in family support centers. SFI, for example, had positive impacts on couples' relationship satisfaction on the order of 0.11 standard deviation for men and 0.25 standard deviation for women, or 0.18 standard deviation when averaged across men and women.⁴⁸ SHM had a positive impact on a similar measure of couple-level relationship happiness with an effect size of 0.13 standard deviation.

On the other hand, earlier research on marital interventions has found larger effect sizes for middle-class families. SHM's short-term effects are small by comparison, even considering that the program was designed to provide more intensive "dosages" of services than most relationship and marriage education program models tested in the past. The short-term estimated impacts of SHM might be small for a variety of reasons. For instance, it is possible that lower-income couples who face multiple challenging life circumstances may find it more difficult to implement the skills from the SHM curricula in their everyday lives and interactions, thereby diminishing the program's impacts.

At the same time, differences in research designs across studies make it difficult to draw definitive conclusions from comparisons of the magnitudes of impacts across studies. The vast majority of studies (other than the Building Strong Families evaluation) were conducted with relatively small samples, a single curriculum, and under relatively controlled circumstances. Meta-analyses in other fields have found that these conditions tend to produce larger impacts, on average, than circumstances like the SHM evaluation, in which programs were delivered and tested on a large scale and program operators had discretion over the curricula used, the staff that were hired, and the program's management structures, among other factors.⁴⁹ Indeed, when statistically significant impacts are evident, large-scale program evaluations often tend to find only modest impacts on indicators of family functioning and parents' individual psychological well-being. For example, a national evaluation of Early Head Start (EHS), which provides services aimed at enhancing child development directly and to support child development through parenting and/or family development services, showed improvements on a range of parenting practices, such as whether parents spanked or read to their child or whether they showed supportiveness and emotional responsivity in observed parent-child interactions. The

⁴⁸The effect sizes for SFI's impacts were calculated by the authors of this report using information presented in Cowan et al. (2009) by subtracting the posttreatment mean of the control group from the posttreatment mean of the couples-focused program group and dividing this by the posttreatment standard deviation of the control group.

⁴⁹Lipsey and Wilson (2001); Wilson and Lipsey (2001).

magnitude of these effects ranged from 0.08 to 0.16 standard deviation. Likewise, EHS led to improvements on parenting stress that were 0.10 standard deviation in size when children were 2 years old.⁵⁰ Elsewhere, the Moving to Opportunity for Fair Housing (MTO), a ten-year research demonstration that combines tenant-based rental assistance with housing counseling, was found to reduce adult psychological distress with an impact of 0.08 standard deviation.⁵¹

The SHM program also had positive effects on psychological adjustment for parents for both fathers and mothers. While the effects are small, any improvements in parental psychological distress are potentially important, both for parents' own well-being and because parental depression and distress are often linked with less positive parenting practices and increased problem behaviors for children.⁵² That SHM positively affected the psychological well-being of both fathers and mothers is particularly noteworthy, given how few social programs are aimed at improving the well-being of low-income men and given recent policy interests in improving the capacities of fathers from lower-income backgrounds to engage in high-quality, stable relationships with their children.

The SHM program did not have a significant effect on the likelihood that parents would still be together at the 12-month follow-up. Most random assignment studies of relationship skills programs have not examined effects on marital stability in the short term, though there are two recent exceptions. The SFI study did not find statistically significant impacts on the likelihood that married couples at random assignment would stay married at an 18-month follow-up point. In that study, about 92 percent of couples remained married at the follow-up point across the study's research conditions.⁵³ Elsewhere, Strong Bonds — a study of the PREP curriculum delivered by Army chaplains (PREP Army), which also targeted couples with low or modest incomes — identified statistically significant impacts on couples' marital status after a 12-month follow-up period: 6 percent of the control group filed for a divorce or divorced, compared with 2 percent of the program group.⁵⁴ This study's sample is quite different than SHM's, however, making it difficult to draw direct comparisons across the two studies.

It was also hypothesized that the SHM program might affect other aspects of the couple relationship, such as infidelity and the quality of the coparenting relationship, but these hypotheses are not supported by the 12-month data.

⁵⁰U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2001).

⁵¹Kling, Liebman, and Katz (2007).

⁵²Hoffman, Crnic, and Baker (2006); McLoyd (1990); Conger and Elder (1994).

⁵³Personal communication with Philip Cowan and Carolyn Pape Cowan about SFI's estimated impacts on couples' relationship status.

⁵⁴Stanley et al. (2010).

As noted, the average cost of delivering SHM services ranged from \$7,400 to \$11,500 per couple across the local programs. The estimated program operating costs reflect the intensity of a yearlong, multicomponent program that substantially emphasized staff efforts to engage and retain enrolled couples in services. Future research could focus on testing lower-cost strategies of delivering marriage and relationship education services on a similar scale and identifying areas for cost reduction. The challenge, however, is to determine which elements of the program (such as staff-to-client ratios, duration of engagement, supports provided, and so on) could be trimmed without compromising the program's capacity to produce positive impacts.

SHM's impacts were generally consistent across the eight local programs in this evaluation. This finding likely reflects that there were large differentials in relationship-focused services received by both the program group and the control group members in all locations and that all the programs were able to implement the full SHM program model in adherence with program guidelines. Thus, even though there was some variation in implementation features, hours of couples' participation, characteristics of the host agencies, and average program costs per couple, this finding suggests that these differences were not large enough to generate significant differences in impacts across local programs.

Some evidence suggests that SHM's effects differ for couples with different racial and ethnic backgrounds and for couples experiencing different levels of marital distress, though it is difficult to know what constellation of factors might have led to this pattern of results. Even so, these findings are of interest because little is known about who might benefit the most or the least from preventive, family-strengthening interventions like SHM. Given that the SHM evaluation is one of the first tests of a relationship and marriage education skills program delivered on a broad scale to lower-income married couples, the findings presented here can generate hypotheses for additional research. For example, additional analyses might explore how program effects differ for mixed racial and ethnic couples, because they may be more vulnerable to marital challenges that arise when spouses have different cultural backgrounds. Furthermore, because low-income couples and families often experience myriad challenging circumstances (such as complex family structures, multiple partner fertility, depression, severe stress, limited social and human capital resources, and joblessness — particularly among young, low-income men), future investigations could be aimed at understanding the extent to which these and other stressors moderate the impacts presented here. Understanding the role that these and other factors play in moderating impacts may help to inform program content and structure.

In sum, the SHM program had positive impacts on multiple dimensions of marital interactions and parents' individual psychological well-being and adjustment at the 12-month follow-up point. At the interim follow-up, however, the program did not significantly affect the likelihood that parents were still together or spouses' reports of infidelity or the quality of their coparenting relationship — as was hypothesized. SHM's short-term effects are small, but they are consistent across a range of outcomes and data sources. Moreover, these short-term positive impacts occurred for couple interactions and adult psychological well-being — outcomes that have been associated with social and emotional outcomes for children, pointing to the possibility of longer-term positive effects on child well-being.

Looking forward, the data collected in the SHM evaluation provide an unprecedented opportunity to explore a range of questions related to marital and family processes among low-income families with diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds. Key questions for the evaluation are whether the 12-month effects of the SHM program are sufficient in magnitude and enduring enough over time to yield longer-term impacts on marital stability and benefits for parents and their children. Over time, the short-term effects may fade, or — as in some studies — the effects may grow as couples assimilate and integrate the curriculum lessons into their lives and interactions with each other.⁵⁵ It is important to follow couples and their families over a longer period of time to see whether the accumulation of positive effects across multiple domains of couple functioning, even if small in magnitude, will yield positive impacts on marital stability, on parenting and father engagement, and on parents' well-being and their children's adjustment and well-being over time. Subsequent reports using data collected approximately 30 months after couples entered the study will examine the effects of SHM on these and other outcomes over a longer period.

⁵⁵Schultz, Cowan and Cowan (2006); Hawkins, Blanchard, Baldwin, and Fawcett (2008).
Appendix A

More Information on the Baseline Characteristics of Couples in the SHM Evaluation

Appendix Table A.1

Definitions of the Demographic and Socioeconomic Characteristics of Couples in the SHM Evaluation Sample at Study Entry

Characteristic	How Defined
Race/ethnicity	Couples are categorized as Hispanic, white, or African-American if both spouses self-selected that race/ethnicity. The "other/multiracial" category includes couples who are of different race/ethnicity (70 percent), couples in which at least one spouse has more than one race/ethnicity (15 percent), couples in which both of these conditions are true (8 percent), and couples who both self-identified as only Asian, Pacific Islander, Native American, or other (8 percent).
Education level ^a	Each spouse was asked to identify the highest credential completed. Response options were: General Educational Development (GED) or high school equivalency certificate, high school diploma, two-year/associate's degree, technical/vocational degree, college degree, or none of the above.
Age	Average age is calculated using the date of birth provided by each spouse.
Income 100% to less than 200% of FPL or less than 100% of FPL	FPL = federal poverty level. The poverty level was calculated using federal poverty guidelines for the year that the couple entered the study.
Expecting a child	A couple was defined as expecting a child if the woman said that she was pregnant.
Average number of children in the household	The number of children is the woman's response to the question of how many children under age 18 live in her household at least half of the time.
Married at the time of random assignment	Information about whether couples were married at random assignment comes from a retrospective question, which was a late addition to the 12-month follow-up survey. 59 percent of couples in the SHM research sample were asked whether they were married at enrollment. The percentages in the table reflect the responses only of couples who were asked the question at the 12-month follow-up. The overall percentage is weighted by local program sample sizes.
Average number of years married ^b	This number represents the mean of the woman's and the man's response. Years married is calculated using responses at enrollment for all couples, including those couples who gave a response on the 12-month survey that they were not married at the time of enrollment.
Stepfamily	A family is considered a stepfamily if either spouse responded that any child in the household was his or her stepchild.
	(continued)

Characteristic	How Defined
Happiness in marriage	Individuals are categorized as happy in their marriage if they rated their happiness as 5, 6, or 7 on a scale of 1 to 7.
Marriage in trouble	Individuals are categorized as reporting marriage in trouble if they reported that during the past year they ever thought that their marriage was in trouble.
Psychological distress	Psychological distress is measured using the Kessler 6, which is a quantifier of nonspecific psychological distress. It includes six questions, such as "During the past 30 days, how often did you feel: So sad that nothing could cheer you up? Nervous? Restless or fidgety?" Each item is rated on a scale from 0 to 4, where a higher score indicates more frequent distress. The items are summed, and the individual is considered to be distressed if this sum is greater than 12. See Kessler et al. (2003).
Substance abuse	Substance abuse is measured using three questions from the CAGE Questionnaire and three similar questions adapted for drug use. These include the following: "Have you ever felt you should cut down on your drinking/drug use?"; "Have people annoyed you by complaining about your drinking/drug use?"; "Have you ever felt bad or guilty about your drinking/drug use?" See Ewing (1984).

NOTES: aParticipants in the Oklahoma City location were asked whether they had a high school diploma or GED certificate. Response options were: none, high school diploma, GED or high school equivalency certificate, other (specify).

^bIn Oklahoma City, this question was not included on the SHM Baseline Information Form but was asked on the SHM 12-Month Follow-Up Survey.

Appendix Table A.2

Characteristics of SHM Couples Compared with Low-Income Married Couples from National Surveys

Characteristic ^a	SHM	2000 SMFL	1987 NSFH
Socioeconomic characteristics			
Race/ethnicity ^b (%)		***	***
White	27.6	53.7	66.8
Hispanic	49.5	33.3	18.3
African-American	15.1	7.3	11.1
Other	7.9	5.8	3.9
Average age (years)	31.4	36.5 ***	34.2 ***
Education level (%)			***
Less than high school	23.1	27.8	33.0
High school diploma or GED certificate ^c	51.8	44.5	40.4
More than high school	25.2	27.7	26.7
Family characteristics Average number of children in the household Preschool age (0-4) School age (5-17)	1.0 1.2	0.8 *** 1.7 ***	0.8 *** 1.7 ***
Average number of years married	0.2	13.3	11.2
<u>Marital appraisals (%)</u>			
Men's report of happiness in marriage"		***	***
Less than happy	19.6	8.0	11.0
Нарру	51.6	44.0	42.0
Very happy	28.9	48.0	47.0
Women's report of happiness in marriage ^d		***	***
Less than happy	25.0	5.0	14.0
Нарру	49.3	43.0	39.0
Very happy	25.7	52.0	47.0
Men report marriage in trouble ^e	55.2	32.0 ***	23.7 ***
Women report marriage in trouble ^e	57.1	32.0 ***	29.4 ***
Sample size (individuals)	12,596	178	1,580
			(continued)

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on the SHM Baseline Information Forms; Amato's calculations based on the Survey of Marriage and Family Life (2000 SMFL); and Abt Associates' calculations based on the National Survey of Families and Households (1987 NSFH).

NOTES: Samples from the SMFL and NSFH are restricted to all married couples who had a child under age 18 and who had family incomes of less than 200 percent of the federal poverty level.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: *** = 1 percent; ** = 5 percent; * = 10 percent. Asterisks indicate that the results are significantly different for the SMFL sample compared with the SHM sample or for the NSFH sample compared with the SHM sample.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

^aIn this table, SHM baseline measures are defined at the individual level to make them comparable with the measures from the other studies.

^bSHM and NSFH asked one question about race/ethnicity and one question about whether the respondent identified as Hispanic, while SMFL asked one question with the following response categories: "White Hispanic," "White non-Hispanic," "Black," or "Other."

^cFor comparability with the national samples, high school graduation in this table includes those with GED certificates.

^dSHM asked, "All things considered, how happy are you with your marriage?" while NSFH and SMFL asked, "Taking all things together, how would you describe your marriage?" SHM and NSFH had a 7-point response scale, where 1 to 4 are considered "Less than happy"; 5 and 6 are considered "Happy"; and 7 is considered "Very happy." SMFL had a 3-point response scale with the options "Not too happy," "Pretty happy," and "Very happy."

^eSHM and NSFH asked respondents whether they had ever thought that their marriage was in trouble during the past year, while SMFL asked about the past three years.

Appendix B

Descriptions of the Codes Used to Construct the Primary Outcomes Based on Observed Marital Interactions

To describe dimensions of the quality of marital interactions examined in this report using videotaped observational data of couple interactions, it is helpful to review more detailed information about the codes from the Iowa Family Interaction Ratings Scale (IFIRS)¹ that were used to construct the primary outcomes based on observed marital interactions. This appendix presents the related IFIRS codes and descriptions of the behaviors, along with means (M) and standard deviations (SD).² The codes are grouped by measures of observed warmth and support, positive communication skills, and anger and hostility in couple interactions.

Codes Used to Construct the Scale for Observed Warmth and Support

- Warmth/Support (M = 1.74; SD = 0.83) includes expressions of liking, appreciation, praise, care, concern, or support for spouse (for example, "I love you"; and "You did that well.").
- **Humor/Laugh** (M = 2.63; SD = 1.22) includes displays of humor and statements that are lighthearted and good-natured in tone and manner and that decrease tension.
- **Positive Mood** (M = 2.09; SD = 1.01) encompasses content, happy, and optimistic displays as well as positive behavior toward self, others, or things in general (for example, "I'm content with my life"; and "This is fun!").
- **Group Enjoyment** (M = 2.18; SD = 1.20) captures the degree to which enjoyment is evident and displays of pleasure, fun, and satisfaction are present (for example, "I like doing this with you.").
- **Physical Affection** (M = 1.20; SD = 0.54) captures any positive, affectionate physical contact, including hugs, caresses, touches, kisses, tickles, or patting or stroking spouse's arm or back.

¹Melby et al. (1998).

²The IFIRS codes are scored on a scale ranging from 1 to 9, where 1 indicates that the behavior is "not at all characteristic" of an individual (or that the behavior is never exhibited by the individual) and 9 indicates that the behavior is "mainly characteristic" of an individual in a given interaction (or that the behavior is consistently and frequently exhibited with high intensity). For varying degrees of behaviors, a score of 3 indicates that the behavior is infrequently exhibited, and when the behavior is evident, it is expressed at low intensity; a score of 5 indicates that the behavior is sometimes shown at low or moderate intensity; and a score of 7 indicates that the behavior is exhibited fairly often at an elevated intensity. Scores of 2, 4, 6, and 8 are entered when the behavior exhibited by an individual falls somewhere between the foregoing scores.

Codes Used to Construct the Scale for Observed Positive Communication Skills:

- Assertiveness (M = 3.86; SD = 1.61) captures confidence, forthrightness, and clear and appropriate ways of expressing oneself that are neutral or positive in affect, including verbalizations (for example, "I can do it!"), direct eye contact, or body orientation toward spouse.
- Listener Responsiveness (M = 4.27; SD = 1.25) captures active listening: attending to, acknowledging, or validating another person through verbal or nonverbal displays (such as nodding head or saying, "Yeah" or "Mm-hmm" while the other person is speaking).
- **Communication** (M = 4.67; SD = 1.09) encompasses clear expression, in a neutral or positive manner, of one's needs and wants, ideas, explanations, or solicitations of spouse's point of view and clarifications (for example, "I'm interested in why you think that is true.").
- Effective Process (M = 3.67; SD = 1.02) captures behavior that actively facilitates the problem-solving process in a timely and appropriate way, including describing and clarifying the problem or encouraging and soliciting input from spouse (for example, "I have a problem, which is that I feel like I'm the only one who cleans the house.").
- **Disruptive Process** (reverse coded; M = 7.67; SD = 1.39) captures behavior that actively discourages or obstructs problem solving, including being inattentive, uncooperative, drawing the conversation off topic, belittling or discouraging spouse's comments (for example, "If you were home more and would help me, we wouldn't have this problem.").
- **Denial** (reverse coded; M = 8.45; SD = 0.80) assesses one's rejection or denial of personal responsibility for a situation, or for the situation itself, or casting blame onto someone else (for example, "I got mad because I didn't feel good"; and "It's all your fault.").
- Avoidant (reverse coded; M = 6.80; SD = 1.39) captures behavior that conveys avoidance or rejection of or withdrawal from the conversation, which includes averting one's gaze or orienting one's body away from spouse.

Codes Used to Construct the Scale for Observed Anger and Hostility

- **Hostility** (M = 1.72; SD = 1.07) captures hostile, angry, critical, disapproving, and/or rejecting behavior toward spouse (for example, "Go soak your head!" and "Drop dead!").
- **Contempt** (M = 1.39; SD = 0.81) encompasses displays of disgust, disdain, or scorn toward spouse (for example, a nonverbal sneer), including condescending, sarcastic, and superior statements (such as "You make me sick"; and "Whatever...," said with a shrug and turning away from spouse).
- Angry Coercion (M = 1.12; SD = 0.40) assesses attempts to control spouse or change behavior or opinion of spouse in a hostile manner, such as power plays, demands, and contingent physical or verbal threats (for example, "Shape up, or I'll shape you up!" and "Shut your mouth, or I'll shut it for you!").
- Verbal Attack (M = 1.09; SD = 0.32) gauges personalized, unqualified disapproval of spouse and unkind statements that appear to demean, hurt, or embarrass spouse, such as put-downs and personally derogatory criticisms of spouse (such as "You really are sort of stupid"; and "You're lousy with handling money.").

Appendix C

Estimated Impacts Analyzed by Local SHM Program

Appendix Table C.1

Estimated Impacts on Primary Outcomes Based on the 12-Month Survey, by Local SHM Program

	I	Bronx	Oklah	noma City	Local
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Program
Outcome ^a	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Difference ^c
<u>Relationship status</u>					
Married ^d (%)	86.1	-2.2	93.9	1.4	
Marital appraisals					
Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^e	5.59	0.15	6.07	0.07	
Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	61.3	-3.6	37.4	1.4	
Warmth and support in relationship ^f					
Men's report of warmth and support	3.36	0.09	3.54	0.05	
Women's report of warmth and support	3.20	0.12	3.50	0.03	
Positive communication skills in relationship ^f					
Men's report of positive communication skills	3.14	0.07	3.27	0.09	
Women's report of positive communication skills	3.05	0.14	3.28	0.11	
Negative interactions in relationship					
Men's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.43	-0.06	2.09	-0.09	
Women's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.39	-0.09	1.97	-0.06	
Men's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.46	-0.05	1.23	0.00	
Women's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.38	-0.16	1.21	-0.02	
Men's report of any physical assault (%)	18.0	-2.8	10.5	0.4	Ť
Women's report of any physical assault (%)	11.4	-1.1	7.1	-0.5	
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%)	4.1	-2.1	1.6	-0.6	
Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	2.5	-0.9	1.3	-0.1	
<u>Fidelity</u>					
Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	84.7	-0.1	94.4	2.0	
Individual psychological distress ^f					
Men's psychological distress	1.95	0.00	1.78	-0.06	
Women's psychological distress	2.05	-0.01	1.82	-0.05	
Coparenting relationship ^f					
Men's report of cooperative coparenting	3.45	-0.04	3.56	0.02	
Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3.27	-0.01	3.49	0.02	
Sample size (program and control group totals)					
Couples		683		842	
Men		617		778	
women		663		827	

	0	rlando	Penr	sylvania	Local
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Program
Outcome ^a	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Difference ^c
Relationship status					
Married ^d (%)	92.9	-1.3	91.9	-0.8	
<u>Marital appraisals</u>					
Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^e	5.76	0.10	5.84	0.20	
Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	51.0	-4.4	51.0	-9.1	
Warmth and support in relationship ^f					
Men's report of warmth and support	3.45	0.06	3.34	0.00	
Women's report of warmth and support	3.37	0.03	3.19	0.24	
Positive communication skills in relationshin ^f					
Men's report of positive communication skills	3.22	0.00	3.19	0.17	
Women's report of positive communication skills	3.20	0.11	3.21	0.04	
Negative interactions in relationship					
Men's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.18	0.01	2.02	-0.12	
Women's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.14	-0.13	2.10	-0.13	
Men's report of psychological abuse ^f	1 31	0.01	1 27	-0.05	
Wemen's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.51	0.01	1.27	-0.05	
women's report of psychological abuse	1.22	-0.07	1.27	-0.09	
Men's report of any physical assault (%)	10.5	1.7	14.6	-7.7	Ť
Women's report of any physical assault (%)	7.6	-1.0	8.0	1.1	
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%)	0.8	1.2	1.7	-0.8	
Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	0.5	-0.2	4.0	-2.1	
<u>Fidelity</u>					
Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	93.8	-0.7	91.4	2.3	
Individual psychological distress ^f					
Men's psychological distress	1.87	0.02	1.86	-0.04	
Women's psychological distress	1.96	-0.13	2.08	-0.01	
<u>Coparenting relationship</u> ^f					
Men's report of cooperative coparenting	3.50	-0.02	3.29	0.05	
Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3.36	0.01	3.16	0.20	
Sample size (program and control group totals)					
Couples		709		567	
Memory Women		6/3		508	
women		699		551	

	S	eattle	Sh	oreline	Local
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Program
Outcome ^a	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Difference ^c
Relationship status					
Married ^d (%)	88.0	-0.9	89.1	1.5	
Marital appraisals					
Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^e	5.84	0.01	5.72	0.09	
Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	52.4	-4.0	55.0	-6.5	
Warmth and support in relationship ^f					
Men's report of warmth and support	3 48	0.15	3 38	0.09	
Women's report of warmth and support	3.42	0.02	3.29	0.12	
Desiding communication shills in relationship ^f					
<u>Positive communication skills in relationship</u>	2 21	0.00	2 24	0.02	
Women's report of positive communication skills	3.18	-0.07	3.24	-0.02	
women's report of positive communication skins	5.10	-0.07	5.15	0.10	
<u>Negative interactions in relationship</u>					
Men's report of negative behavior and emotions	2.24	0.04	2.23	-0.10	
Women's report of negative behavior and emotions'	2.19	-0.04	2.18	-0.07	
Men's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.37	-0.07	1.34	-0.11	
Women's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.28	-0.04	1 25	0.02	
	14.0	1.4	10.0	0.02	4
Men's report of any physical assault (%)	14.9	1.4	12.0	-2.6	T
women's report of any physical assault (%)	9.0	-0.1	6.9	3.1	
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%)	1.6	0.5	1.2	-0.8	
Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	0.9	2.2	0.3	1.3	
Fidelity					
Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	92.3	0.8	91.9	1.7	
Individual psychological distress ^f					
Men's psychological distress	1.85	-0.04	1.98	-0.12	
Women's psychological distress	1.93	-0.03	2.07	-0.06	
Concerning relationship ^f					
<u>Coparenting relationship</u> Men's report of cooperative coparenting	3 54	0.01	3 35	0.02	
Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3 41	-0.02	3 23	0.02	
	5.11	0.02	5.25	0.07	
Sample size (program and control group totals)		551		670	
Men		554 484		625	
Women		532		655	

			••	icilita	Local
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Program
Outcome ^a	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Difference ^c
Relationship status					
Married ^d (%)	87.6	1.8	84.5	4.0	
Marital appraisals					
Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^e	5.74	0.21	5.58	0.18	
Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	59.4	-8.1	59.3	-8.8	
Warmth and support in relationship ^f					
Men's report of warmth and support	3 33	0.16	3 11	0.08	
Women's report of warmth and support	3.33	0.10	3 33	0.08	
women's report of warmen and support	5.22	0.10	5.55	0.02	
Positive communication skills in relationship ^f					
Men's report of positive communication skills	3.13	0.21	3.14	0.09	
Women's report of positive communication skills	3.09	0.22	3.08	0.11	
Negative interactions in relationship					
Men's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.30	-0.18	2.33	-0.07	
Women's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.30	-0.22	2.32	-0.21	
r C					
Men's report of psychological abuse ¹	1.41	-0.24	1.39	-0.19	
Women's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.33	-0.14	1.37	-0.13	
Men's report of any physical assault (%)	14 4	-7.6	14 9	-2.2	÷
Women's report of any physical assault (%)	11.9	-2.7	12.0	-2.3	I
Man's report of any severe physical assault (%)	2.0	0.6	1.4	0.4	
Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	2.9	-0.0	2.1	-0.8	
women's report of any severe physical assault (70)	1.0	0.0	2.1	-0.0	
Fidelity	01.7	1.6	00.2	0.0	
Netther spouse reported infidenty (%)	91.7	1.0	90.5	0.0	
Individual psychological distress ^f					
Men's psychological distress	1.89	-0.05	2.03	-0.19	
Women's psychological distress	2.12	-0.29	2.13	-0.07	
Congregating relationship ^f					
Men's report of cooperative congrenting	3 32	0.10	3 38	0.06	
Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3 19	0.10	3.26	-0.05	
	5.17	0.10	5.20	0.05	
Sample size (program and control group totals)		601		670	
Men		627		607	
Women		671		645	

SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-Month Follow-Up Survey.

NOTES: Program impacts were calculated separately for each local SHM program, using an ordinary least squares model adjusting for pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members. Impact estimates for each local SHM program were then compared to see whether their magnitude and direction differ significantly by local SHM program.

^aBox 4 describes how these outcomes are defined.

^bEffect sizes are shown for all outcomes, except as noted below. Effect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group. For the outcomes of relationship status, fidelity, any physical assault, severe physical assault, and marriage in trouble, this column reports the percentage point difference between the means for the program group and the control group.

^cTests of differences across local SHM programs were conducted, and statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: $\dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ percent; $\dagger = 5$ percent; $\dagger = 10$ percent.

^dThis includes couples who, at follow-up, were still married or still in a committed relationship with the same partner they had when they entered the study.

"The scale ranges from 1 to 7, where 1 = "completely unhappy" and 7 = "completely happy."

^fThe scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher scores indicate higher levels of the respective outcomes: warmth and support, positive communication skills, negative behavior and emotions, psychological abuse, individual psychological distress, and cooperative coparenting.

Appendix D

Estimated Impacts Analyzed by Subgroup, Using the Split-Sample Approach

	AI	ppendix Tab	le D.1				
Estimated Impact by Level of Marital Distres	ts on Prima s at Randon	ry Outcomes n Assignmen	Based on the Based	he 12-Month 9 Analysis Usi	Survey, ng Split Sa	ımples	
	Low Mari	tal Distress	Moderate M	arital Distress	High Mar	tal Distress	
O.14.2000.00	Control	Impact/ Efficient Single	Control	Impact/ Effort circ ^b	Control	Impact/ Effort Circ ^b	Subgroup Difference ⁶
Outcourse	dnoin		diroto		diroto		DITIETETICE
<u>Relationship status</u> Married ^d (%)	92.6	-0.4	89.9	1.9	81.3	1.5	
<u>Marital appraisals</u> Couple's average report of relationship happiness [°] Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	6.30 29.9	0.09 -5.4	5.86 53.3	0.10 -5.1	5.00 78.1	0.28 -6.6	*
<u>Warmth and support in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of warmth and support Women's report of warmth and support	3.60 3.58	0.09	3.43 3.33	0.08 0.12	3.16 3.00	0.17 0.15	
Positive communication skills in relationship ^f Men's report of positive communication skills Women's report of positive communication skills	3.42 3.45	0.06 0.09	3.21 3.17	0.11 0.12	2.90 2.79	0.14 0.21	
<u>Negative interactions in relationship</u> Men's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f Women's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	1.86 1.77	-0.04 -0.06	2.20 2.16	-0.08 -0.14	2.71 2.71	-0.18 -0.21	*-
Men's report of psychological abuse ^f Women's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.16 1.12	-0.03 -0.06	1.33 1.26	-0.07 -0.11	1.62 1.52	-0.24 -0.11	÷
Men's report of any physical assault (%) Women's report of any physical assault (%)	7.0 4.6	-0.8 -1.0	13.8 8.5	-3.3 -1.0	21.3 16.3	-3.6 -1.0	
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%) Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	0.5 0.9	-0.2 -0.4	2.2 1.5	-0.8 0.2	3.5 2.5	-0.3 0.1	
							(continued)

	Appendi	ix Table D.1	(continued)				
	Low Mari Control	tal Distress Impact/	Moderate M Control	arital Distress Impact/	High Mari Control	ital Distress Impact/	Subgroup
Outcome ^a	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Difference [°]
<u>Fidelity</u> Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	95.8	0.5	92.5	1.2	84.4	2.4	
<u>Individual psychological distress</u> ^f Men's psychological distress Women's psychological distress	1.65 1.73	-0.02 -0.08	1.91 2.02	-0.07 -0.09	2.18 2.34	-0.11 -0.14	
<u>Coparenting relationship</u> ^f Men's report of cooperative coparenting Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3.62 3.57	0.04 0.02	3.44 3.32	0.01 0.06	3.17 2.98	0.10 0.10	
Sample size (program and control group totals) Couples Men Women		1,711 1,610 1,679		1,981 1,803 1,931		1,619 1,429 1,552	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-N NOTES: Program impacts were calculated separately fi characteristics of sample members. Impact estimates fit subgroup level. ^a Box 4 describes how these outcomes are defined. ^b Effect sizes are shown for all outcomes, except as n the means for the program group and the control group physical assault, severe physical assault, and marriage i group and the control group. ^c Tests of differences across subgroup levels were co = 10 percent. ^d This includes couples who, at follow-up, were still study. ^e The scale ranges from 1 to 4, where 1 = "completel ^f The scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher scores in	Month Follow- or each subgrc om each level noted below. E) by the stands in trouble, this nducted, and married or stil y unhappy" ar	Up Survey. Up Survey. up level, using a were then comp were then comp iffect size is calc urd deviation for trand deviation for transfect signifi statistical signifi attaistical signifi li in a committed levels of the resi- levels of the resi- lev	an ordinary lea bared to see wh culated by divic the control gro the percentage cance levels ar cance levels ar ely happy."	ist squares model ther their magn ding the impact c oup. For the outc point difference indicated as fo vith the same par vith the same par	adjusting for itude and dired of the program omes of relation is between the i llows: $\dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ ther they had support, positi	pre-random ass ction differ sign (the difference onship status, fi means for the p percent; $\dagger \uparrow = 3$ when they enter ive communica	ignment iffcantly by between idelity, any rogram rogram rogram
negative behavior and emotions, psychological abuse, i	individual psy-	chological distre	ess, and cooper	ative coparenting			N

	Low Marital I	Distress	Moderate Marita	I Distress	High Marital E	Distress	
1	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Subgroup
Outcome ^{a,b}	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size ^c	Difference ^d
Observed in couple interactions							
Men's warmth and support	2.09	0.08	1.97	-0.02	1.72	0.17	
Women's warmth and support	2.11	0.02	2.00	-0.03	1.77	0.07	
Men's positive communication skills	5.64	0.20	5.49	0.00	5.31	0.12	
Women's positive communication skills	5.86	0.07	5.65	0.03	5.55	0.13	
Men's anger and hostility	1.22	-0.12	1.25	-0.03	1.39	-0.01	
Women's anger and hostility	1.31	-0.04	1.44	-0.13	1.54	-0.13	
Sample size (program and control group totals)							
Men		465 765		514		395 205	
women SOLIRCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM	12-Month Obser	405 rvational Stu	h	41C		<i>ckc</i>	
		-	- - -			-	
NOTES. FIGGIBALI IIIPAUS WELE CALUARUE SEPARAT characteristics of sample members. Impact estimate	tes from each lev	el were then	compared to see w	hether their ma	agnitude and direct	tion differ sign	signment nificantly by

Appendix Table D.2

73

below bescribes how these outcomes are defined. ^aBox 5 describes how these outcomes are defined. ^bThe scale ranges from 1 to 9, where higher scores indicate higher levels of the respective outcomes: observed warmth and support, positive

communication skills, and anger and hostility. ^cEffect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group, pooled across subgroups. ^dTests of differences across subgroup levels were conducted, and statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: $\dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ percent; $\dagger \dagger = 5$ percent; \dagger

= 10 percent.

Estimated Impa by Income Relative to Poverty	cts on Prin Level at F	nary Outcom kandom Assig	es Based on th gnment: Subgr	e 12-Month S oup Analysis	urvey, Using Spli	it Samples	
	Less than	100% of FPL	100% to less that	n 200% of FPL	200% or	more of FPL	
·	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Subgroup
Outcome ^a	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Difference ^c
<mark>Relationship status</mark> Married ^d (%)	87.1	3.1	91.0	-0.7	90.2	-1.3	-
<u>Marital appraisals</u> Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^e Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	5.81 56.5	0.14 -5.4	5.74 52.3	0.11 -6.1	5.70 47.1	0.16 -3.0	
<u>Warmth and support in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of warmth and support Women's report of warmth and support	3.41 3.30	0.09 0.11	3.40 3.33	0.09 0.05	3.48 3.35	0.05 0.12	
<u>Positive communication skills in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of positive communication skills Women's report of positive communication skills	3.19 3.12	0.11 0.14	3.18 3.17	0.07 0.09	3.21 3.17	0.08 0.13	
<u>Negative interactions in relationship</u> Men's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f Women's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.23 2.21	-0.07 -0.13	2.24 2.20	-0.10 -0.11	2.24 2.17	-0.11 -0.11	
Men's report of psychological abuse ^f Women's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.38 1.33	-0.10 -0.12	1.34 1.26	-0.10 -0.04	1.27 1.22	-0.04 -0.06	
Men's report of any physical assault (%) Women's report of any physical assault (%)	16.4 10.3	-4.0 -0.2	11.0 9.0	-0.7 -1.4	11.6 6.1	-0.9 1.7	
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%) Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	2.5 2.3	-0.9 -0.2	1.8 0.9	-0.3 0.2	0.6 1.9	0.7 -0.4	
							(continued)

Appendix Table D.3

	Apper	ndix Table D	.3 (continued)				
	Less than	100% of FPL	100% to less tha	n 200% of FPL	200% or	more of FPL	
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Subgroup
Outcome ^a	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Difference ^c
<u>Fidelity</u> Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	0.06	2.2	91.7	0.2	94.4	-0.8	
<u>Individual psychological distress</u> ^f Men's psychological distress Women's psychological distress	1.98 2.12	-0.06 -0.13	1.87 1.97	-0.08 -0.05	1.78 1.90	-0.02 -0.08	
<u>Coparenting relationship</u> ^f Men's report of cooperative coparenting Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3.41 3.26	0.05 0.05	3.41 3.30	0.03 0.04	3.52 3.38	-0.02 0.05	
Sample size (program and control group totals) Couples Men Women		2,139 1,937 2,080		2,074 1,919 2,016		943 855 915	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 1	l 2-Month Follc	ow-Up Survey.					
NOTES: "FPL" = federal poverty level. The povert Program impacts were calculated separately for characteristics of sample members. Impact estimate subgroup level.	y level was cal each subgroup s from each lev	culated using fe level, using an c vel were then co	deral poverty guid ordinary least squa mpared to see whe	elines for the year res model adjustin ther their magnitu	that the courd for pre-rand	ple entered the s ndom assignmen tion differ signif	udy. t ĭcantly by
^a Box 4 describes how these outcomes are define ^b Effect sizes are shown for all outcomes, except means for the program group and the control group physical assault, severe physical assault, and marria	d. as noted below) by the standaı tge in trouble, t	 Æffect size is c rd deviation for this column repo 	calculated by divid the control group.	ing the impact of For the outcomes point difference b	the program of relationsh between the r	(the difference b ip status, fidelity neans for the pro	etween the /, any gram
group and the control group. °T ests of differences across subgroup levels wer	e conducted, ar	nd statistical sign	nificance levels are	e indicated as follo	ows: $\dagger \dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$	percent; $\dot{\uparrow}\dot{\uparrow} = 5$	percent; †
= 10 percent. ^d This includes couples who, at follow-up, were s	still married or	still in a commit	tted relationship w	ith the same partn	er they had v	when they entere	d the
study. "The scale ranges from 1 to 7, where $1 = \text{"compl}$ " "The scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher scor negative behavior and emotions, psychological abu	etely unhappy' es indicate higl se, individual p	² and 7 = "comp her levels of the osychological di	letely happy." respective outcom stress, and coopera	es: warmth and su tive coparenting.	upport, positi	ive communication	on skills,

	A	ppendix 7	[able D.4				
Estimated Impacts on] by Income Relative to Pove	Marital Quality erty Level at Ra	y Based or indom Ass	ı Observed Couj ignment: Subgı	ple Interactio oup Analysis	ns at 12 Mon Using Split 9	tths, Samples	
	Less than 100%	of FPL	100% to less than 2	200% of FPL	200% or more	of FPL	
	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Subgroup
Outcome ^{a,b}	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size ^c	Difference ^d
<u>Observed in couple interactions</u> Men's warmth and support Women's warmth and support	1.92 1.94	0.00	1.90 1.97	0.04 -0.06	2.04 2.04	0.17 0.25	
Men's positive communication skills Women's positive communication skills	5.40 5.56	$0.14 \\ 0.10$	5.41 5.68	0.15 0.14	5.75 5.96	0.01 0.05	
Men's anger and hostility Women's anger and hostility	1.31 1.50	-0.09 -0.19	1.27 1.39	-0.06 -0.11	1.23 1.34	0.06 0.13	
Sample size (program and control group totals) Men Women		582 582		525 525		238 238	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SH	M 12-Month Obser	vational Stuc	ly.		•		
NOTES: "FPL" = federal poverty level. The pov Program impacts were calculated separately f characteristics of sample members. Impact estim subgroup level.	/erty level was calcı îor each subgroup le iates from each leve	ulated using evel, using an el were then e	federal poverty guid 1 ordinary least squa 2 compared to see whe	elines for the yes res model adjust ether their magni	ar that the couple ing for pre-randc tude and directio	entered the om assignmen on differ signi	study. nt ificantly by
^a Box 5 describes how these outcomes are deff ^b The scale ranges from 1 to 9, where higher so communication skills, and anger and hostility.	ined. cores indicate highe	er levels of tl	he respective outcom	nes: observed wa	rmth and suppor	t, positive	-

^cEffect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group, pooled across the subgroups. ^dTests of differences across subgroup levels were conducted, and statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: $\dagger\dagger\dagger = 1$ percent; $\dagger\dagger = 5$ percent; \dagger

Estimated Impa by Race/	icts on Prin Ethnicity:	nary Out Subgrou	tcomes Ba D Analys	is Using Sp	12-Mont lit Sampl	h Survey es	_ م		
	, Both Hi	spanic	Both Afric	an-American	Both	White	Other/M	ultiracial	
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Subgroup
Outcome ^a	Group Ef	fect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group Ef	fect Size ^b	Group E	Offect Size ^b	Difference ^c
<u>Relationship status</u> Married ^d (%)	90.5	0.8	86.6	1.1	89.3	1.2	88.4	-0.1	
<u>Marital appraisals</u> Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^e Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	5.89 52.6	0.16 -5.9	5.65 60.4	0.01 -5.8	5.73 48.8	0.14 -7.2	5.65 53.9	0.15 -2.3	
<u>Warmth and support in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of warmth and support Women's report of warmth and support	3.39 3.26	0.07 0.16	3.41 3.26	0.00 0.07	3.49 3.46	0.11 0.04	3.42 3.34	0.13 0.04	
<u>Positive communication skills in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of positive communication skills Women's report of positive communication skills	3.22 3.19	0.13 0.16	3.16 3.05	0.04 0.03	3.22 3.19	0.06 0.15	3.14 3.12	0.05 0.03	
<u>Negative interactions in relationship</u> Men's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f Women's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.14 2.14	-0.11 -0.15	2.39 2.30	-0.03 -0.03	2.19 2.15	-0.09 -0.13	2.35 2.27	-0.05 -0.09	
Men's report of psychological abuse ^f Women's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.32 1.27	-0.12 -0.10	1.42 1.32	-0.08 -0.06	1.26 1.26	-0.07 -0.12	1.42 1.31	-0.07 -0.01	
Men's report of any physical assault (%) Women's report of any physical assault (%)	12.9 9.5	-4.7 -1.4	15.6 10.2	-1.9 -0.3	9.6 6.8	$1.6 \\ 0.4$	17.0 10.1	-1.0 0.4	÷
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%) Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	1.8 1.9	-0.2 0.1	3.5 2.8	-2.4 -1.1	$1.1 \\ 0.5$	0.2 -0.2	2.2 1.1	-0.7 0.9	
									(continued)

Appendix Table D.5

	Appe	ndix Tab	le D.5 (co	ntinued)					
	Both H Control	ispanic Impact/	Both Afric: Control	an-American Impact/	Both Control	White Impact/	Other/M Control	ultiracial Impact/	Suberoup
Outcome ^a	Group E	ffect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group E	ffect Size ^b	Group E	ffect Size ^b 1	Difference
Fidelity Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	93.1	0.5	85.8	2.9	93.0	1.0	89.1	1.7	
<u>Individual psvchological distress</u> Men's psychological distress Women's psychological distress	1.89 2.01	-0.06 -0.11	1.91 2.03	-0.09 -0.12	1.87 2.01	0.00 -0.12	1.95 2.03	-0.12 -0.02	
<u>Coparenting relationship</u> ^f Men's report of cooperative coparenting Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3.38 3.25	0.03 0.10	3.48 3.32	-0.02 -0.05	3.47 3.39	0.06 0.01	3.45 3.32	0.01 0.01	
Sample size (program and control group totals) Couples Men Women		2,322 2,111 2,280		598 552 581		1,129 1,044 1,090		$1,324 \\ 1,193 \\ 1,270$	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12	2-Month Foll	low-Up Sur	vey.						
NOTES: Couples are categorized as Hispanic, white, the category "other/multiracial" are mixed-race coup Program impacts were calculated separately for echaracteristics of sample members. Impact estimates	, or African- oles. ach subgroup from each le	American if o level, usin evel were th	both spouse g an ordinar en compare	es self-selecte y least square d to see whet	ed that race/ es model ad her their ma	ethnicity. No justing for p ignitude and	early 80 per re-random direction d	rcent of couj assignment liffer signifi	oles in antly by
^{abox} 4 describes how these outcomes are defined. ^{abox} 4 describes hown for all outcomes, except a ^b Effect sizes are shown for all outcomes, except a the means for the program group and the control group physical assault, severe physical assault, and marriag	is noted belo [.] up) by the sti ge in trouble,	w. Effect siz andard devia this columr	ze is calcula ation for the 1 reports the	ted by dividir control grou percentage p	ıg the impa p. For the ο oint differe	ct of the pro utcomes of i nce between	gram (the d elationship the means	lifference be status, fidel for the prog	tween ity, any ram
group and the control group. ^c Tests of differences across subgroup levels were = 10 percent.	conducted, a	und statistica	al significan	ce levels are	indicated as	follows: ††	$\ddagger = 1$ perce	ent; $\dagger \dagger = 5 pc$	ercent; †
^d This includes couples who, at follow-up, were sti	ill married o	r still in a co	ommitted rel	ationship wit	h the same	partner they	had when 1	they entered	the
*tury. *The scale ranges from 1 to 7, where 1 = "comple *The scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher scores negative behavior and emotions, psychological abuse	tely unhappy s indicate hig e, individual	γ^{\prime} and $7 = 4$	completely l of the respec cal distress, a	aappy." tive outcome and cooperat	s: warmth a ive coparen	nd support, ting.	positive co	mmunication	n skills,

		Appe	ndix Table I	9.6					
Estimated Impacts on N by Rac	Aarital Qu ce/Ethnicit	ality Bac y: Subgı	sed on Obse oup Analys	rved Coup is Using SI	le Interac plit Sampl	tions at es	12 Months	•	
	Both His Control	panic Effect	Both African-	American Effect	Both W Control	hite Effert	Other/Mult	tiracial Effect	Subgroup
Outcome ^{a,b}	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size [°]	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size [°]	Difference ^d
Observed in couple interaction Men's warmth and support Women's warmth and support	1.78 1.82	0.14 0.03	2.07 2.04	-0.03 -0.05	2.15 2.18	-0.01 0.00	2.02 2.07	-0.01 -0.03	
Men's positive communication skills Women's positive communication skills	5.25 5.47	0.24 0.25	5.63 5.72	-0.14 -0.14	5.79 6.00	-0.02 -0.02	5.63 5.84	0.04 -0.04	+- +- +-
Men's anger and hostility Women's anger and hostility	1.27 1.42	-0.05 -0.11	1.31 1.47	0.02 0.09	1.25 1.38	-0.07 -0.13	1.30 1.41	-0.05 -0.02	
Sample size (program and control group totals) Men Women		644 644		147 147		281 281		320 320	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHN NOTES: Couples are categorized as Hispanic, wh the category "other/multiracial" are mixed-race of Program impacts were calculated separately for characteristics of sample members. Impact estims by subgroup level. ^a Box 5 describes how these outcomes are defin ^b The scale ranges from 1 to 9, where higher sc communication skills, and anger and hostility.	1 12-Month (nite, or Africe ouples. or each subgrites from each ned.	Jbservation In-Americs oup level, u h level wei higher lev	nal Study. in if both spous using an ordina e then compare els of the respe	es self-select ry least squar ed to see when ctive outcom	ed that race/ es model ad ther their ma es: observed	ethnicity.] iusting for gnitude an warmth au	Vearly 80 per pre-random a d direction di nd support, pc	cent of co tssignmen iffer signi sitive	uples in t ficantly

^cEffect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the standard deviation for the control group, pooled across subgroups. ^dTests of differences across subgroup levels were conducted, and statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: $\dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ percent; $\dagger \dagger = 5$ percent; $\dagger = 10$ percent.

Appendix E

Estimated Impacts Analyzed by Subgroup, Using Full Interaction Models

Estimated Impact by Level of Marital Distress	Ap) ts on Primary at Random /	pendix Tab y Outcomes Assignment	le E.1 : Based on tl : Subgroup	ıe 12-Month Analysis wit	Survey, h Full Inte	ractions	
Outcome ^a	Low Marit Control Groun	al Distress Impact/ Effect Size ^b	Moderate Ma Control Group	Inital Distress Impact/ Effact Sizab	High Mari Control Group	lal Distress Impact/ Effact Siza ^b	Subgroup Difference ^c
Relationship status Married ^d (%)	94.8	-1.3	89.8	1.9	82.1	2.0	
<u>Marital appraisals</u> Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^e Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	6.29 33.0	0.09 -6.9	5.84 53.8	0.10 -5.3	5.02 75.4	0.28 -5.0	*-
<u>Warmth and support in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of warmth and support Women's report of warmth and support	3.59 3.55	0.09	3.43 3.33	0.08 0.12	3.17 3.02	0.16 0.14	
<u>Positive communication skills in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of positive communication skills Women's report of positive communication skills	3.41 3.43	0.09 0.09	3.20 3.17	0.11 0.13	2.90 2.81	0.13 0.18	
<u>Negative interactions in relationship</u> Men's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f Women's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	1.87 1.81	-0.04 -0.08	2.22 2.17	-0.08 -0.14	2.70 2.68	-0.18 -0.19	
Men's report of psychological abuse ^f Women's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.19 1.15	-0.06 -0.10	1.33 1.27	-0.08 -0.12	1.60 1.50	-0.21 -0.07	
Men's report of any physical assault (%) Women's report of any physical assault (%)	8.3 5.5	-1.9 -1.6	14.0 8.9	-3.3 -1.2	21.2 15.4	-2.5 0.3	
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%) Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	0.5 1.4	-0.2 -0.8	2.1 1.6	-0.8 -0.1	3.7 1.9	-0.1 1.0	
							(continued)

	Appendix	Table E.1	(continued)				
	Low Marit	al Distress	Moderate Ma	urital Distress	High Marit	al Distress	
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Subgroup
Outcome"	Group	Effect Size	Group	Effect Size	Group	Effect Size	Difference
Fidelity Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	94.1	0.4	92.3	1.3	85.9	2.2	
<u>Individual psychological distress</u> ^f Men's psychological distress Women's psychological distress	1.73 1.81	-0.05 -0.09	1.93 2.04	-0.09 -0.09	2.10 2.25	-0.08 -0.13	
Coparenting relationship ^f Men's report of cooperative coparenting Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3.61 3.54	0.02 0.03	3.45 3.32	0.02 0.07	3.19 3.00	0.10 0.09	
Sample size (program and control group totals) Couples Men Women		1,711 1,610 1,679		1,981 1,803 1,931		1,619 1,429 1,552	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM 12-M NOTES: Impact estimates from these subgroup analyses covariates created from pre-random assignment characte and a series of two-way interaction terms of the program ^a Box 4 describes how these outcomes are defined. ^b Effect sizes are shown for all outcomes, except as no between the means for the program group and the contro fidelity, any physical assault, severe physical assault, and the program group and the control group. ^c Tests of differences across subgroup levels were con percent; and $\dagger = 10$ percent. ^d This includes couples who, at follow-up, were still m study. ^c The scale ranges from 1 to 7, where 1 = "completely fThe scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher scores inc skills, negative behavior and emotions, psychological ab	onth Follow- were calcula ristics of sam a group dumm a group by th d marriage in ducted, and s ducted, and s unhappy" an unhappy" an unhappy" an	Up Survey. ted using an or pple members (iy with the cov ffect size is cal ne standard der trouble, this c tatistical signif an a committe levels of the re levels of the re al psychologic	rdinary least sq including dum ariates and pro leulated by div viation for the o olumn reports a ficance levels a ed relationship tely happy." sspective outco	uares model that my variables for ngram group dun ding the impact control group. Fo he percentage p re indicated as f with the same ps mes: warmth and cooperative cop	includes a pr the other suby my with subg of the program of the program of the outcome ont difference on difference on the outcome of the out	ogram dummy, groups being te group indicators in (the differences of relationshi so of relationshi between the m 1 percent; $\uparrow\uparrow$ = 1 when they ent itive communic	e e p status, eans for ered the ered the
Estimated Impacts on N by Level of Marital Dist	Marital Quality ress at Random	Based on Assignm	Observed Cou ent: Subgroup	uple Interac Analysis w	tions at 12 M ith Full Inter	onths, actions	
--	-----------------------------------	---------------------	-------------------------------	----------------------------	---------------------------------	-------------------	-------------------------
	Low Marital D	istress	Moderate Marita	al Distress	High Marital 1	Distress	
	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Subgroup
Outcome ^{a,b}	Group	Size°	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size ^c	Difference ^d
<u>Observed in couple interactions</u>							
Men's warmth and support	2.03	0.09	1.97	-0.02	1.79	0.14	
Women's warmth and support	2.02	0.04	2.01	-0.02	1.86	0.05	
Men's positive communication skills	5.56	0.19	5.52	0.00	5.34	0.15	
Women's positive communication skills	5.73	0.13	5.67	0.05	5.60	0.11	
Men's anger and hostility	1.23	-0.12	1.25	-0.03	1.38	-0.02	
Women's anger and hostility	1.34	-0.03	1.43	-0.10	1.54	-0.19	
Sample size (program and control group totals)							
Men		465		514		395	
Women		465		514		395	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHN	M 12-Month Observ	/ational Stud	ly.				
NOTES, Linned actimates from these the		ated mine a	a andinami lasat as	له امام مس مسمد	and a solution i to		

Appendix Table E.2

NOTES: Impact estimates from these subgroup analyses were calculated using an ordinary least squares model that includes a program dummy, covariates created from pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members (including dummy variables for the other subgroups being tested), and a series of two-way interaction terms of the program group dummy with the covariates and program group dummy with subgroup indicators. ^aBox 5 describes how these outcomes are defined.

^bThe scale ranges from 1 to 9, where higher scores indicate higher levels of the respective outcomes: observed warmth and support, positive communication skills, and anger and hostility.

^cEffect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the

standard deviation for the control group, pooled across subgroup levels. ^dT ests of differences across subgroup levels were conducted, and statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: $\ddagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ percent; $\ddagger = 5$ percent; and $\ddagger = 10$ percent.

	Ap	penuix 1 ar	le L.J				
Estimated Impac by Income Relative to Poverty L	ts on Primar evel at Rand	y Outcome lom Assign	s Based on the ment: Subgrou	12-Month Su ip Analysis w	ırvey, ith Full In	teractions	
	Less than 10	0% of FPL	100% to less thar	1 200% of FPL	200% or m	ore of FPL	
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Subgroup
Outcome ^a	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Difference ^c
<u>Relationship status</u> Married ^d (%)	88.3	3.1	90.1	-0.5	88.6	-1.3	
<u>Marital appraisals</u> Couple's average report of relationship happiness [°] Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	5.81 54.2	0.13 -4.7	5.69 54.0	0.13 -6.6	5.62 52.4	0.22 -5.4	
<u>Warmth and support in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of warmth and support Women's report of warmth and support	3.42 3.32	0.10	3.38 3.31	0.10 0.07	3.43 3.27	0.07 0.15	
<u>Positive communication skills in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of positive communication skills Women's report of positive communication skills	3.19 3.15	0.14 0.15	3.16 3.14	0.08 0.12	3.18 3.12	0.07 0.12	
<u>Negative interactions in relationship</u> Men's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f Women's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.23 2.19	-0.09 -0.13	2.27 2.24	-0.11 -0.14	2.29 2.24	-0.11 -0.15	
Men's report of psychological abuse ^f Women's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.38 1.32	-0.11 -0.10	1.37 1.30	-0.11 -0.07	1.33 1.28	-0.09 -0.10	
Men's report of any physical assault (%) Women's report of any physical assault (%)	16.3 9.9	-3.9 -0.3	12.2 10.0	-1.0 -1.6	13.4 7.8	-1.5 1.6	
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%) Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	2.6 2.2	-1.0 -0.6	2.0 1.0	-0.4 0.3	0.7 2.2	$1.0 \\ 0.4$	
							(continued)

Annendix Tahle E.3

0% to less than 20	0% of FPL	200% or mo	te of FPL	
Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Subgroup
Group	Effect Size ^o	Group	Effect Size [°]	Difference
90.6	0.5	93.1	-0.1	
1.88 1.99	-0.07 -0.07	1.84 1.95	-0.07 -0.11	
3.39 3.28	0.03 0.06	3.47 3.30	0.03 0.08	
	2,074 1,919 2,016		943 855 915	
poverty guidelines ast squares model iables for the other dummy with subgr lated by dividing th ne control group. F ne percentage point ince levels are indi elationship with th estive outcomes: w	s for the year t that includes a r subgroups be oup indicators or the outcome t difference be cated as follow cated as follow re same partner armth and sup	hat the couple program dun ing tested), at i. e program (th es of relations tween the me tween the me tween the had wh r they had wh	c entered the s mmy, covariat and a series of ne difference t ship status, fid ans for the pro ans for the pro ercent; $\uparrow\uparrow$ = 5 er they entere en they entere	tudy. es created two-way between lelity, any ogram percent; ed the on skills,
pove ast scalable dumm lated hap e colo he pet elatic s, and s, and	90.6 1.88 1.99 3.39 3.28 3.28 3.28 3.28 3.28 3.28 3.28 3.28 3.28 3.28 a groupeline: the other my with subgr by dividing the other are indi- the other are indi- by dividing the other are indi- py."	90.60.51.88-0.071.99-0.071.990.033.390.063.280.063.290.033.290.033.290.033.290.062,0161,9192,0163,010For the other subgroups beby dividing the impact of thby dividing the impact of thoutcole series are indicated as followoutcoles: warmth and sup.cooperative coparenting.	90.6 0.5 93.1 1.88 -0.07 1.84 1.99 -0.07 1.84 1.95 -0.07 1.95 3.39 0.03 3.47 3.28 0.06 3.30 -0.06 3.30 -0.016 3.20 -0.016 3.20 -0	90.6 0.5 93.1 -0.1 1.88 -0.07 1.84 -0.07 1.99 -0.07 1.95 -0.11 1.99 -0.07 1.95 -0.11 3.39 0.03 3.47 0.03 3.39 0.06 3.30 0.03 3.28 0.06 3.30 0.03 3.28 0.06 3.30 0.03 3.28 0.06 3.30 0.03 3.28 0.06 3.30 0.03 3.28 0.06 3.30 0.03 3.28 0.06 3.30 0.03 3.28 0.06 3.30 0.03 3.28 0.06 3.30 0.03 3.29 0.03 3.47 0.03 3.29 0.06 3.30 0.03 2.074 94 94 94 910 910 910

		Appendi	x Table E.4				
Estimated Impacts of by Income Relative to Pov	n Marital Qual erty Level at R	ity Based kandom A	on Observed Co ssignment: Subg	uple Interact roup Analysi	ions at 12 Mo s with Full In	nths, teractions	
	Less than 100%	of FPL	100% to less than 2	200% of FPL	200% or more	ofFPL	
	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Subgroup
Outcome ^{a,b}	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size ^c	Difference ^d
Observed in couple interactions							
Men's warmth and support	1.95	0.00	1.92	0.06	1.98	0.22	
Women's warmth and support	1.98	-0.06	1.97	-0.04	1.95	0.29	*
Men's positive communication skills	5.46	0.15	5.41	0.14	5.62	0.01	
Women's positive communication skills	5.63	0.07	5.67	0.13	5.79	0.16	
Men's anger and hostility	1.29	-0.09	1.28	-0.07	1.24	0.08	
Women's anger and hostility	1.46	-0.17	1.42	-0.13	1.37	0.12	
Sample size (program and control group totals)							
Men		582		525		238	
Women		582		525		238	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the S	HM 12-Month Ob	servational S	itudy.				
NOTES: "FPL" = federal poverty level. The p Impact estimates from these subgroup anal	overty level was c yses were calculate	alculated usi ed using an c	ng federal poverty gu ordinary least squares	uidelines for the y model that inclu	/ear that the coup des a program du	le entered the mmy, covaria	study. tes created

from pre-random assignment characteristics of sample members (including dummy variables for the other subgroups being tested), and a series of two-way interaction terms of the program group dummy with the covariates and program group dummy with subgroup indicators.

^bThe scale ranges from 1 to 9, where higher scores indicate higher levels of the respective outcomes: observed warmth and support, positive ^aBox 5 describes how these outcomes are defined.

communication skills, and anger and hostility. ^cEffect size is calculated by dividing the impact of the program (the difference between the means for the program group and the control group) by the

standard deviation for the control group pooled across subgroup levels.

^dTests of differences across subgroup levels were conducted, and statistical significance levels are indicated as follows: $\dot{\tau}\dot{\tau}\dot{\tau} = 1$ percent; $\dot{\tau}\dot{\tau} = 5$ percent; and $\ddagger = 10$ percent.

		Append	lix Table J	5 .3					
Estimated Impa by Race/I	acts on P Ethnicity	rimary Ou /: Subgrou	itcomes Ba ip Analysi	ased on the s with Full	12-Mont Interactio	h Survey ons	.•		
	Both]	Hispanic	Both Africa	un-American	Both V	Vhite	Other/Mu	ltiracial	
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Subgroup
Outcome ^a	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group Ef	fect Size ^b	Group Eff	ect Size ^b	Difference ^c
<u>Relationship status</u> Married ^d (%)	89.2	0.5	87.5	2.2	88.2	2.1	89.5	0.3	
<u>Marital appraisals</u> Couple's average report of relationship happiness ^e Either spouse reports marriage in trouble (%)	5.87 53.5	0.19 -5.8	5.67 59.3	-0.05 -6.6	5.57 54.6	0.16 -9.4	5.64 52.3	0.16 -2.7	÷—
<u>Warmth and support in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of warmth and support Women's report of warmth and support	3.42 3.31	0.08 0.15	3.39 3.24	-0.03 0.05	3.39 3.32	0.15 0.11	3.39 3.30	0.16 0.06	
<u>Positive communication skills in relationship</u> ^f Men's report of positive communication skills Women's report of positive communication skills	3.20 3.19	0.15 0.17	3.18 3.05	0.02 0.03	3.16 3.10	0.08 0.20	3.14 3.12	0.07 0.04	
<u>Negative interactions in relationship</u> Men's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f Women's report of negative behavior and emotions ^f	2.21 2.16	-0.11 -0.19	2.33 2.26	-0.06 -0.02	2.24 2.24	-0.12 -0.12	2.32 2.26	-0.08 -0.09	
Men's report of psychological abuse ^f Women's report of psychological abuse ^f	1.36 1.28	-0.15	1.40 1.32	-0.10 -0.05	1.31 1.33	-0.07 -0.16	1.42 1.32	-0.08 -0.02	
Men's report of any physical assault (%) Women's report of any physical assault (%)	14.7 10.7	-5.2 -3.2	15.8 9.8	-3.3 1.5	11.0 7.8	1.8 1.8	16.6 9.7	-1.4 1.1	
Men's report of any severe physical assault (%) Women's report of any severe physical assault (%)	1.4 2.1	0.2 0.2	3.3 2.7	-1.9 -0.8	2.3 0.6	-0.2 -0.4	2.6 1.4	-1.1 0.5	
									(continued)

Table F 6 .

	App	oendix Ta	ble E.5 (co	ontinued)					
	Both F	lispanic	Both Afric	an-American	Both	White	Other/Mı	ultiracial	
	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Control	Impact/	Subgroup
Outcome ^a	Group I	Effect Size ^b	Group	Effect Size ^b	Group E	ffect Size ^b	Group Ef	ffect Size ^b	Difference°
<u>Fidelity</u> Neither spouse reported infidelity (%)	93.4	0.4	86.5	3.3	90.4	1.6	89.0	1.8	
<u>Individual psychological distress</u> ^f Men's psychological distress Women's psychological distress	1.90 1.96	-0.10 -0.10	1.88 2.06	-0.07 -0.17	1.93 2.12	0.05 -0.16	1.95 2.06	-0.11 -0.03	
Coparenting relationship ^f Men's report of cooperative coparenting Women's report of cooperative coparenting	3.42 3.31	0.07 0.07	3.45 3.30	-0.03 -0.02	3.39 3.25	0.06 0.11	3.41 3.28	0.02 0.05	
Sample size (program and control group totals) Couples Men Women		2,322 2,111 2,280		598 552 581		1,129 1,044 1,090		$1,324 \\ 1,193 \\ 1,270$	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the SHM	12-Month Fo	ollow-Up Su	ırvey.						
NOTES: Couples are categorized as Hispanic, whi the category "other/multiracial" are mixed-race co Impact estimates from these subgroup analyses from pre-random assignment characteristics of san interaction terms of the program group dummy wi ^a Box 4 describes how these outcomes are defin ^b Effect sizes are shown for all outcomes, excep the means for the program group and the control g physical assault, severe physical assault, and marri group and the control group. ^c Tests of differences across subgroup levels we and $\dot{\tau} = 10$ percent. ^d This includes couples who, at follow-up, were study. ^c The scale ranges from 1 to 7, where 1 = "comp ^f The scale ranges from 1 to 4, where higher sco	te, or Africar uples. were calcula mple members th the covaria ed. t as noted bel t as noted bel	h-American ted using an s (including thes and prog thes and prog thes and prog thes and prog thes and prog thes and prog standard dev e, this colum or still in a (or still in a (py" and $7 =$ py" and $7 =$	if both spous i ordinary lea dummy vari gram group d iation for the iation for the in reports the cal significar cal significar committed re committed re committed re	es self-selecte st squares mo ables for the c lummy with st ated by dividii e control grou e percentage p nce levels are happy."	ed that race/ del that incl other subgro ubgroup ind ng the impac p. For the o ooint differel indicated as indicated as s: warmth a	ethnicity. No udes a prog ups being te icators. tt of the pro attornes of a follows: †† partner they atthey they	early 80 per ram dummy sted), and z gram (the d celationship (the means $\uparrow = 1$ perce had when 1	rcent of cou y, covariate a series of th a series of the b status, fidd for the pro ent; $\dagger \dagger = 5$ r they entered	uples in s created wo-way wo-way etween blity, any gram bercent; d the d the
negative behavior and emotions, psychological abi	use, individua	al psycholog	jical distress,	and cooperat	ive coparent	ing.	-		

		e dy	oendix Table	е.6 Е.6					
Estimated Impacts or by Ra	n Marital C ace/Ethnici	uality B ty: Subg	tased on Obs group Analys	erved Cou sis with Fu	ple Intera Il Interact	ctions at ions	12 Montl	hs,	
	Both Hisp	anic	Both African-	American	Both W	hite	Other/Mul	tiracial	
	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Control	Effect	Subgroup
Outcome ^{a,b}	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size ^c	Group	Size°	Group	Size ^c	Difference ^d
<u>Observed in couple interaction</u> Men's warmth and support Women's warmth and support	1.86 1.89	0.15 0.01	2.04 2.03	-0.03 -0.03	2.04 2.06	-0.05 0.02	1.98 2.02	0.00 0.00	
Men's positive communication skills Women's positive communication skills	5.32 5.53	0.21 0.24	5.53 5.68	0.01 -0.03	5.70 5.88	-0.05 -0.05	5.61 5.80	0.07 0.00	
Men's anger and hostility Women's anger and hostility	1.28 1.42	-0.02 -0.05	1.33 1.47	-0.08 -0.12	1.25 1.46	-0.08 -0.28	1.29 1.40	-0.10 -0.06	
Sample size (program and control group totals) Men Women		644 644		147 147		281 281		320 320	
SOURCE: MDRC calculations based on the S NOTES: Couples are categorized as Hispanic, the category "other/multiracial" are mixed-rac Impact estimates from these subgroup anal- created from pre-random assignment character two-way interaction terms of the program group and "Box 5 describes how these outcomes are d ^b The scale ranges from 1 to 9, where higher communication skills, and anger and hostility. ^c Effect size is calculated by dividing the im standard deviation for the control group pooled d Tests of differences across subgroup levels and d = 10 percent.	HM 12-Mont , white, or Aff e couples. yses were cald ristics of samp up dummy wi lefined. r scores indice pact of the pr d across subgu s were conduc	h Observa ican-Amer ican-Amer ole membe the cova the higher ogram (the oup levels	tional Study. ican if both spo ng an ordinary l rs (including du uriates and progr levels of the res e difference betv s.	uses self-sele east squares 1 mmy variable am group du bective outco veen the mea veen the mea ance levels a	cted that race nodel that in ss for the oth mmy with su mes: observe as for the pro re indicated <i>i</i>	s/ethnicity. Sludes a pr er subgroup ind bgroup ind d warmth a gram grou is follows:	Nearly 80 p ogram dumr os being test icators. ind support, p and the co ††† = 1 per	hercent of control of control of control of control of the positive for the other of the control of the contro	ouples in tes series of) by the 5 percent;

References

- Archer, John. 2000. "Sex Differences in Aggression Between Heterosexual Partners: A Meta-Analytic Review." *Psychological Bulletin* 126, 5: 651-680.
- Beach, Steven R. H. 2001. Marital and Family Processes in Depression: A Scientific Foundation for Clinical Practice. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Blanchard, Victoria L., Alan J. Hawkins, Scott A. Baldwin, and Elizabeth B. Fawcett. 2009. "Investigating the Effects of Marriage and Relationship Education on Couples' Communication Skills: A Meta-Analytic Study." *Journal of Family Psychology* 23, 2: 203-214.
- Booth, Alan, Paul R. Amato, David Johnson, and Stacy J. Rogers. 2002. Survey of Marriage and Family Life: Methodology Report. University Park, PA: Pennsylvania State University, Department of Sociology.
- Bradbury, Thomas N., Frank D. Fincham, and Steven R. H. Beach. 2000. "Research on the Nature and Determinants of Marital Satisfaction: A Decade in Review." *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 62, 4: 964-980.
- Bradbury, Thomas, and Benjamin R. Karney. 2004. "Understanding and Altering the Longitudinal Course of Marriage." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 66, 4: 862-879.
- Cohen, Jacob. 1988. *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*, 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Coker, Ann L., Keith E. Davis, Ileana Arias, Sujata Desai, Maureen Sanderson, Heather M. Brandt, and Paige H. Smith. 2002. "Physical and Mental Health Effects of Intimate Partner Violence for Men and Women." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 23, 4: 260-268.
- Conger, Rand D., and Glen H. Elder in collaboration with Frederick O. Lorenz, Ronald L. Simons, and Les B. Whitbeck. 1994. "Family Stress and Adaptation: Reviewing the Evidence." Pages 255-268 in R. D. Conger and G. H. Elder (eds.), *Families in Troubled Times: Adapting to Change in Rural America*. New York: Aldine DeGruyter.
- Cowan, Carolyn Pape, and Philip A. Cowan. 2000. When Partners Become Parents: The Big Life Change for Couples. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cowan, Philip A., and Carolyn Pape Cowan. 2006. "Developmental Psychopathology from a Family Systems and Family Risk Factors Perspective: Implications for Family Research, Practice, and Policy." Pages 530-587 in Dante J. Cicchetti and Donald J. Cohen (eds.), Developmental Psychopathology (2nd ed., vol. 1). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Cowan, Philip A., Carolyn Pape Cowan, Marsha Kline Pruett, Kyle Pruett, and Jessie J. Wong. 2009. "Promoting Fathers' Engagement with Children: Preventive Interventions for Low-Income Families." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 71, 3: 663-679.

- Cummings, E. Mark, and Patrick T. Davies. 2002. "Effects of Marital Conflict on Children: Recent Advances and Emerging Themes in Process-Oriented Research." *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 43, 1: 31-63.
- Downey, Geraldine, and James Coyne. 1990. "Children of Depressed Parents: An Integrative Review." *Psychological Bulletin* 108, 1: 50-76.
- Erel, Osnat, and Bonnie Burman. 1995. "Interrelatedness of Marital Relations and Parent-Child Relations: A Meta-Analytic Review." *Psychological Bulletin* 118, 1: 108-132.
- Ewing, J. A. 1984. "Detecting Alcoholism: The CAGE Questionnaire." *JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association* 252, 14: 1905-1907.
- Fincham, Frank D., Scott M. Stanley, and Steven R. H. Beach. 2007. "Transformative Processes in Marriage: An Analysis of Emerging Trends." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 69, 2: 275-292.
- Gordon, Lori, Rita DeMaria, Veronica Haggerty, and Eileen Hayes. 2007. *PAIRS SHM Facilitator's Guide and Curriculum for Managers, Facilitators, and Family Support Staff.* Weston, FL: PAIRS Foundation.
- Grych, John H. 2002. "Marital Relationship and Parenting." Pages 203-226 in M. H. Bornstein (ed.), *Handbook of Parenting*, 2nd ed. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Grych, John H., and Frank D. Fincham (eds.). 2001. Interparental Conflict and Child Development: Theory, Research, and Applications. Cambridge University Press: New York.
- Hawkins, Alan J., Victoria L. Blanchard, Scott A. Baldwin, and Elizabeth B. Fawcett. 2008. "Does Marriage and Relationship Education Work? A Meta-Analytic Study." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 76, 5: 723-734.
- Hill, Carolyn J., Howard S. Bloom, Alison Rebeck Black, and Mark W. Lipsey. 2007. "Empirical Benchmarks for Interpreting Effect Sizes in Research." Working Paper. New York: MDRC.
- Hoffman, Casey, Keith A. Crnic, and Jason Baker. 2006. "Maternal Depression and Parenting: Implications for Children's Emergent Emotion Regulation and Behavioral Functioning." *Parenting: Science and Practice* 6, 4: 271-295.
- Hsueh, JoAnn, Desiree Principe Alderson, Erika Lundquist, Charles Michalopoulos, Daniel Gubits, and David Fein with Noemi Altman, Kristen Faucetta, Jorgen Harris, Amy Lowenstein, Meghan McCormick, Lyndsay McDonough, and Amy Taub. Forthcoming, 2012. The Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation: Early Impacts on Low-Income Families, Technical Supplement. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation.
- Jordon, Pamela L., and Alyson E. Frei. 2007. *Becoming Parents Program: Leader's Manual, SHM Version.* Seattle, WA: Becoming Parents Program, Inc.

- Karney, Benjamin R., and Thomas N. Bradbury. 1995. "The Longitudinal Course of Marital Quality and Stability: A Review of Theory, Method, and Research." *Psychological Bulletin* 118, 1: 3-34.
- Kessler, Ronald C., Peggy R. Barker, Lisa J. Colpe, Joan F. Epstein, Joseph C. Gfroerer, Eva Hiripi, Mary J. Howes, Sharon-Lise T. Normand, Ronald W. Manderscheid, Ellen E. Walters, and Alan M. Zaslavsky. 2003. "Screening for Serious Mental Illness in the General Population." *Archives of General Psychiatry* 60, 2: 184-189.
- Kessler, Ronald C., Ellen E. Walters, and Melinda S. Forthofer. 1998. "The Social Consequences of Psychiatric Disorders, III: Probability of Marital Stability." *American Journal of Psychiatry* 155, 8: 1092-1096.
- Kitzmann, Katherine M., Noni K. Gaylord, Aimee R. Holt, and Erin D. Kenny. 2003. "Child Witnesses to Domestic Violence: A Meta-Analytic Review." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 71, 2: 339-352.
- Kling, Jeffrey R., Jeffrey B. Liebman, and Lawrence F. Katz. 2007. "Experimental Analysis of Neighborhood Effects." *Econometrica* 75, 1: 83-119.
- Knox, Virginia, and David Fein. 2009. "Designing a Marriage Education Demonstration and Evaluation for Low-Income Married Couples." Pages 247-280 in H. Elizabeth Peters and Claire M. Kamp Dush (eds.), *Marriage and Family: Perspectives and Complexities*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Kreider, Rose M., and Renee Ellis. 2011. "Number, Timing, and Duration of Marriages and Divorces: 2009." Current Population Reports, P70-125. Washington, DC: U.S. Census Bureau.
- Lindahl, Kristen M., Mari Clements, and Howard Markman. 1997. "Predicting Marital and Parent Functioning in Dyads and Triads: A Longitudinal Investigation of Marital Processes." *Journal of Family Psychology* 11, 2: 139-151.
- Lipsey, Mark W., and David B. Wilson. 2001. "The Way in Which Intervention Studies Have 'Personality' and Why It is Important to Meta-Analysis." *Evaluation of the Health Professions* 24, 3: 236-254.
- Loving Couples Loving Children, Inc. 2009. Loving Couples Loving Children Facilitator Guide. Seattle: Loving Couples Loving Children, Inc.
- McLanahan, Sara, and Karen Booth. 1989. "Mother-Only Families: Problems, Prospects, and Politics." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 51, 3: 557-580.
- McLoyd, Vonnie C. 1990. "The Impact of Economic Hardship on Black Families and Children: Psychological Distress, Parenting, and Socioeconomic Development." *Child Development* 61, 2: 311-346.
- Melby, Janet, Rand Conger, Ruth Book, Martha Rueter, Laura Lucy, Daniel Repinski, Shauna Rogers, Barbara Rogers, and Laura Scaramella. 1998. The Iowa Family Interaction Rating

Scales (5th ed.), Unpublished Coding Manual. Ames: Iowa State University, Institute for Social and Behavioral Research.

- Miller Gaubert, Jennifer, Daniel Gubits, Desiree Principe Alderson, and Virginia Knox. Forthcoming, 2012. *The Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation: Final Implementation Findings*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation.
- Miller Gaubert, Jennifer, Virginia Knox, Desiree Principe Alderson, Christopher Dalton, Kate Fletcher, and Meghan McCormick. 2010. *Early Lessons from the Implementation of a Relationship and Marriage Skills Program for Low-Income Married Couples*. New York: MDRC.
- Neff, Lisa A., and Benjamin R. Karney. 2004. "How Does Context Affect Intimate Relationships? Linking External Stress and Cognitive Processes Within Marriage." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 30, 2: 134-148.
- Reardon-Anderson, Jane, Matthew Stagner, Jennifer Ehrle Macomber, and Julie Murray. 2005. *Systematic Review of the Impact of Marriage and Relationship Programs*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Schulz, Marc S., Philip A. Cowan, and Carolyn Pape Cowan. 2006. "Promoting Healthy Beginnings: A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Preventive Intervention to Preserve Marital Quality During the Transition to Parenthood." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 74, 1: 20-31.
- Stanley, Scott M., Elizabeth S. Allen, Howard J. Markman, Galenda K. Rhoades, and Donnella L. Prentice. 2010. "Decreasing Divorce in Army Couples: Results from a Randomized Controlled Trial Using PREP for Strong Bonds." *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy* 9, 2: 149-160.
- Stanley, Scott M., and Howard J. Markman. 2008. *Within Our Reach Instructor Manual: Version 2.0.* Greenwood Village, CO: PREP Educational Products, Inc.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families. 2001. *Building Their Futures: How Early Head Start Programs Are Enhancing the Lives of Infants and Toddlers in Low-Income Families: Summary Report.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families.
- Whisman, M. A. 2001. "The Association Between Depression and Marital Dissatisfaction." Pages 3-24 in S. R. H. Beach (ed.), *Marital and Family Processes in Depression: A Scientific Foundation for Clinical Practice*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Wilson, David B., and Mark W. Lipsey. 2001. "The Role of Method in Treatment Effectiveness Research: Evidence from Meta-Analysis." *Psychological Methods* 6, 4: 413-429.

Wood, Robert G., Sheena McConnell, Quinn Moore, Andrew Clarkwest, and JoAnn Hsueh. 2010. *Strengthening Unmarried Parents' Relationships: The Early Impacts of Building Strong Families*. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research.

Earlier MDRC Publications on the Supporting Healthy Marriage Evaluation

Supporting Healthy Marriage Toolkit: Resources for Progam Operators from the Supporting Healthy Marriage Demonstration and Evaluation. 2011. MDRC.

Early Lessons from the Implementation of a Relationship and Marriage Skills Program for Low-Income Married Couples. 2010. Jennifer Miller Gaubert, Virginia Knox, Desiree Principe Alderson, Christopher Dalton,

2010. Jennifer Miller Gaubert, Virginia Knox, Desiree Principe Alderson, Christopher Dalton Kate Fletcher, and Meghan McCormick.

Spending Time Together: Time Use Estimates for Economically Disadvantaged and Nondisadvantaged Married Couples in the United States. 2009. Working Paper. David J. Fein.

Designing a Marriage Education Demonstration and Evaluation for Low-Income Married Couples. 2008. Working Paper. Virginia Knox and David J. Fein.

Married and Poor: Basic Characteristics of Economically Disadvantaged Couples in the U.S. 2004. Working Paper. David J. Fein.